

Generalized Demailly-Semple jet bundles and holomorphic mappings into complex manifolds

Gianluca Pacienza, Erwan Rousseau

▶ To cite this version:

Gianluca Pacienza, Erwan Rousseau. Generalized Demailly-Semple jet bundles and holomorphic mappings into complex manifolds. 2008. hal-00334768

HAL Id: hal-00334768 https://hal.science/hal-00334768

Preprint submitted on 27 Oct 2008

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

GENERALIZED DEMAILLY-SEMPLE JET BUNDLES AND HOLOMORPHIC MAPPINGS INTO COMPLEX MANIFOLDS

GIANLUCA PACIENZA AND ERWAN ROUSSEAU

ABSTRACT. Motivated by the Green-Griffiths conjecture, we study maximal rank holomorphic maps from \mathbb{C}^p into complex manifolds. When p>1 such maps should in principle be more tractable than entire curves. We extend to this setting the jet-bundles techniques introduced by Semple, Green-Griffiths and Demailly. Our main application is the non-existence of maximal rank holomorphic maps from \mathbb{C}^2 into the very general degree d hypersurface in \mathbb{P}^4 , as soon as $d \geq 93$.

Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Jets of holomorphic maps and generalized Demailly-Semple jet bundles	4
2.1. Grassmannian bundles and effective locus	4
2.2. Jet bundles	5 7
2.3. Jet differentials	7
2.4. Jet differentials and jet bundles	8
3. Algebraic degeneracy of holomorphic maps	9
4. Relative and absolute positivity of the line bundles $\mathcal{O}_{X_k^p}(\mathbf{a})$	12
5. A vanishing theorem for global sections of $E_{p,k,m}$	14
6. First consequences of the basic constructions	16
6.1. Holomorphic maps to complex tori	16
6.2. Families of holomorphic maps to the universal hypersurface and to its complex	ment 17
7. The main application: holomorphic maps from \mathbb{C}^2 to general hypersurfaces in	\mathbb{P}^4 20
7.1. Cohomology of jet bundles	20
7.2. Existence of global 2-jet differentials	22
7.3. Vector fields on jets spaces	24
7.4. Proof of Theorem 1.4	27
References	29

Key words and phrases. Hyperbolicity of projective varieties; holomorphic mappings; jet bundles; Green-Griffiths conjecture, Kobayashi conjecture.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): Primary: 14J70, 32Q45.

1. Introduction

The motivation of this paper is the study of holomorphic maps $f: \mathbb{C}^p \to X$, $1 \leq p \leq n$, where X is a complex manifold of dimension n. Such a study is of interest for important problems related to hyperbolicity-type properties of complex manifolds. If X is of general type, i.e. its canonical bundle K_X is big, one can hope following Green and Griffiths that the following is true:

Conjecture 1.1. Let $f: \mathbb{C}^p \to X$ be a holomorphic map in a compact complex manifold of general type. Then the image of f lies in a proper subvariety Y_f of X.

The equidimensional case p = n has been settled by Kobayashi-Ochiai in [19]. In the litterature, many articles are concerned with the case p = 1 of entire curves, which is the most difficult one since by the following stronger conjecture it implies the other cases.

Conjecture 1.2. Let X be a compact complex manifold of general type. Then there exists a proper subvariety $Y \subset X$ such that for every holomorphic map $f : \mathbb{C} \to X$ the image of f lies in Y.

Despite the efforts of several people, this conjecture seems out of reach for the moment. We refer the reader to the bibliography of Demailly's notes [6] for the precise references. Another important problem is the study of Kobayashi-Eisenman p-measure hyperbolicity. Generalizing the construction of the Kobayashi pseudometric, Eisenman introduced on each complex manifold of dimension n a p-dimensional pseudometric for any $1 \le p \le n$ (see [12]). While a substantial work has been done on the case p = 1 of the Kobayashi pseudometric, it seems that much less is known on the Eisenman pseudometrics.

The goal of our work is twofold. On the one hand we generalize some existing techniques to deal with the intermediate cases $2 \le p \le n-1$, which in principle should be more tractable. Then we put these general constructions at work to extend to arbitrary p several results which were obtained in the case of entire curves (e.g. [6, Theorem 9.1], [10, Theorem 1], [9], [24, Theorem 6]). Our main application is the study of maps from \mathbb{C}^2 to very general hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^4 .

More precisely, in the first part of this paper we extend to our more general setting the jet differentials techniques described in [6] to study entire curves. Namely we give the construction of the jet bundles X_k^p as a tower of Grassmannians over X and of the jet differentials bundles $E_{p,k,m}$ of invariant algebraic differential operators of order k and degree m acting on germs of holomorphic maps from \mathbb{C}^p to X (see §2 for the precise definitions). The construction of the jet bundles X_k^p already appeared in a different setting in [1]. The main technical difference with respect to the case p=1, extensively studied in [6], is the appearance of the effective locus $Z_k^p \subset X_k^p$, which is the closure of the set of points corresponding to the liftings of points of X by holomorphic mappings.

Our main general results may be summarized in the following statement.

Theorem 1.3. Let X be a complex compact manifold, A an ample line bundle on X, $f : \mathbb{C}^p \to X$ a maximal rank holomorphic mapping, i.e. whose differential is of maximal rank at

some point of X, and $1 \le p \le \dim X$, k and m positive integers. Let $\pi_{0,k}: X_k^p \to X$ be the natural projection. Then for every non-zero global section

$$P \in H^0(Z_k^p, \mathscr{O}_{Z_k}(m) \otimes \pi_{0,k}^* A^{-1}) \subset H^0(X, E_{p,k,m} \otimes A^{-1}),$$

the image of the k-th lifting $f_{[k]}$ of f lies in the zero set of P. In other words, P gives a non-trivial algebraic differential equation for maximal rank holomorphic mappings $f: \mathbb{C}^p \to X$.

We believe that these general constructions may lead to effective results for classes of varieties for which the study of entire curves happens to be very delicate. For our main application, we use these tools here to obtain a precise hyperbolicity-type result for mappings of maximal rank from \mathbb{C}^2 to very general hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^4 . To put our result into perspective, recall that the Kobayashi conjecture predicts the non-existence of entire curves in the general projective hypersurfaces of sufficiently high degree. As for the effective bound on the degree, for hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^4 the best result to date was obtained by the second author in [26], where he proved the algebraic degeneracy of entire curves in a general hypersurface of degree $d \geq 593$ in \mathbb{P}^4 . Here we prove the following.

Theorem 1.4. Let $X_d \subset \mathbb{P}^4$ be a very general hypersurface of degree $d \geq 93$. Then there is no holomorphic mapping of maximal rank from \mathbb{C}^2 to X_d .

Let us remark that such a result cannot be obtained using positivity of $\Lambda^2 T_X^*$, since in the case of hypersurfaces X of \mathbb{P}^4 it is not hard to see that $H^0(X, \Lambda^2 T_X^*) = 0$. Apart from the use of our constructions, there are two other ingredients in the proof of Theorem 1.4. Following the recent work of Diverio, [10] we use the algebraic holomorphic Morse inequalities (see for example [28]) to obtain non-zero global sections of $E_{2,2,m}$ vanishing on an ample divisor on X_d . Then we follow Siu's method [29], and Păun's effective version of it [25], to produce meromorphic vector fields on jets spaces to obtain, by differentiation, other independent algebraic differential equations. These equations are enough to deduce the algebraic degeneracy of $f: \mathbb{C}^2 \to X_d$, as soon as $d \geq 93$. By Kobayashi-Ochiai the subvariety covered by the image of f cannot be of general type, and then we conclude by Ein's result [11].

We hope that our work will allow to obtain further results in the direction of the Green-Griffiths conjecture in dimension ≥ 3 . Among the problems stemming from this work, the following seems particularly interesting to us.

Problem 1.5. Let X be a smooth threefold of general type. Find conditions on $c_1(X)$, $c_2(X)$ and $c_3(X)$ insuring the algebraic degeneracy of maximal rank holomorphic map from \mathbb{C}^2 to X.

The plan of the paper is as follows. The constructions of the jet bundles X_k^p and of the jet differentials bundles $E_{p,k,m}$ is presented in §2, while the natural degeneracy result Theorem 1.3 is proved in section 3. The jet bundles come equipped with natural line bundles $\mathcal{O}_{X_k^p}(\mathbf{a})$ whose positivity properties are investigated in §4 (as in [10], these positivity properties are the key to prove existence of global section of $E_{p,k,m}$). Then we show that for certain k and p there cannot exist non-zero sections of $E_{p,k,m}$ (this is a generalization to all $1 \leq p \leq \dim(X)$ of [10, Theorem 1]). In section 6 we present the first two applications of our general constructions.

First (cf. Theorem 6.1) we characterize the image of maximal rank holomorphic mappings from \mathbb{C}^p to complex (not necessarily projective) tori, generalizing [6, Theorem 9.1]. Then in §6.2 we study families of maximal rank holomorphic mappings into the universal degree d hypersurface in \mathbb{P}^n or into its complement (cf. Corollaries 6.4 and 6.5) generalizing [9] and [24, Theorem 6] to arbitrary p. These results suggest a generalization of the Kobayashi conjecture, predicting the p-measure hyperbolicity of a general hypersurface $X_d \subset \mathbb{P}^n$ of degree $d \geq 2n + 1 - p$, for $1 \leq p \leq n - 1$ (see Problem 6.7). In proving them, we establish a degeneracy result for families (cf. Theorem 6.2) which may be of independent interest. Then we turn to the proof of our Theorem 1.4, which will occupy the final section §7.

2. Jets of holomorphic maps and generalized Demailly-Semple jet bundles

2.1. Grassmannian bundles and effective locus. Let (X, V) be a directed manifold, i.e. X is a complex manifold of dimension n and V is a subbundle of rank r of T_X . Let $x_0 \in X$ and choose coordinates (z_1, \ldots, z_n) on a neighborhood U of x_0 such that V can be defined on U by linear equations

$$V_z = \{ v = \sum_{1 \le i \le n} v_j \frac{\partial}{\partial z_j}; v_j = \sum_{1 \le k \le r} a_{jk}(z) v_k, j = r + 1, \dots, n \},$$

with a_{jk} holomorphic. Let us describe some local coordinates on the grassmannian bundle G(p,V) of p-planes in V for an integer $1 \leq p \leq n$. A vector $v \in V_z$ is determined by (v_1,\ldots,v_r) . A p-plane is therefore determined by a $r \times p$ matrix (v_{ij}) . For $I = \{i_1,\ldots,i_p\} \subset \{1,\ldots,r\}$, if $det(v_{ij})_{i\in I,1\leq j\leq p}\neq 0$ then the p-plane can be uniquely represented by a $r \times p$ matrix (u_{ij}) whose Ith $p \times p$ minor is the identity matrix. The corresponding affine chart can be described by coordinates

$$(z_1,\ldots,z_n,(u_{ij})_{i\not\in I}).$$

Let $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_n) : (\mathbb{C}^p, 0) \to (X, x)$ be a germ of holomorphic map tangent to V i.e. $df_t(T_{\mathbb{C}^p}) \subset V_{f(t)}$ for all t in a neighborhood of 0 in \mathbb{C}^p . The map f is uniquely determined by its initial value and the components (f_1, \ldots, f_r) because f verifies the following system of partial differential equations

(2.1)
$$\frac{\partial f_j}{\partial t_i} = \sum_{1 \le k \le r} a_{jk}(f) \frac{\partial f_k}{\partial t_i}, j = r + 1, \dots, n; 1 \le i \le p.$$

In the situation where $\operatorname{rank}(df_0) = p$, the map f lifts to a well defined holomorphic map $\widetilde{f}: (\mathbb{C}^p,0) \to G(p,V)$ by taking $\widetilde{f} = (f, [\frac{\partial f}{\partial t_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{\partial f}{\partial t_p}])$. In coordinates we can describe it in the following way: take coordinates $t = (t_1, \ldots, t_p)$ on $(\mathbb{C}^p,0)$ such that $f_{i_k}(t) = t_k$ for $i_k \in I = \{i_1, \ldots, i_p\} \subset \{1, \ldots, r\}$. Then in the affine chart described above

$$\widetilde{f} = (f_1, \dots, f_n; (\frac{\partial f_i}{\partial t_i})_{i \notin I}).$$

If $p \geq 2$, it should be noted that in general, contrary to the case p = 1, not all points $w \in G(p, V)$ are obtained as $\widetilde{f}(0)$ where \widetilde{f} is the lifting of a germ $f: (\mathbb{C}^p, 0) \to (X, x)$ tangent

to V. Indeed, the equations (2.1) correspond to a Pfaffian system locally associated to n-r linearly independent 1-forms ω_i , $1 \leq i \leq n-r$. Classically (see for example [4]) we introduce the closed exterior differential system $\mathscr{I} \subset \bigwedge^*(\Omega^1_X)$ generated by $\{\omega_i, d\omega_i\}$ inside the exterior algebra $\bigwedge^*(\Omega^1_X)$ of X. A p-plane $E \subset T_{X,x}$ is integral if $\psi_{|E} = 0$ for all $\psi \in \mathscr{I}$.

We denote by $Z \subset G(p, V)$ the *effective locus* of integral elements of \mathscr{I} . Clearly, all points $w = \widetilde{f}(0)$, where \widetilde{f} is the lifting of a germ $f: (\mathbb{C}^p, 0) \to (X, x)$ tangent to V, lie in Z.

Remark 2.1. Let Δ be the unit disc. If the map $f: \Delta^p \to X$, possibly not of maximal rank everywhere, verifies $\frac{\partial f}{\partial t_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{\partial f}{\partial t_p} = g \cdot u_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge u_p$ with g not identically zero and $u_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge u_p \neq 0$ then we define the lifting to be $(f, [u_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge u_p])$. In particular, the lifting of a maximal rank holomorphic map is well defined outside a codimension ≥ 2 subset.

Example 2.2. Take the cone parametrically defined by $f:(t_1,t_2)\to (t_1,t_1t_2,t_1t_2^2)$. Then $\frac{\partial f}{\partial t_1}=u_1=(1,t_2,t_2^2), \frac{\partial f}{\partial t_2}=t_1u_2=t_1.(0,1,2t_2)$. So the lifting is $\widetilde{f}=(f,[u_1\wedge u_2])$.

2.2. **Jet bundles.** Let (X_0^p, V_0) be a directed manifold with rank $V_0 = r$ and p an integer $1 \le p \le r$. We generalize the inductive process of Demailly-Semple jet bundles appearing in [6] for p = 1. We define the 1-jet bundle $X_1^p = G(p, V_0)$, as the Grassmannian bundle, and $V_1 \subset T_{X_1^p}$ as

$$V_{1_{(x,\Lambda)}}=\{\xi\in T_{X_1^p,(x,\Lambda)}|\pi_*\xi\in\Lambda\},$$

where π is the natural projection from X_1^p to X_0^p . We have the two exact sequences

$$(2.2) 0 \to T_{X_1^p/X_0^p} \to V_1 \to S_1 \to 0,$$

$$(2.3) 0 \to S_1 \otimes S_1^* \to \pi^* V_0 \otimes S_1^* \to T_{X_1^p/X_0^p} \to 0,$$

where S_1 is the tautological subbundle on X_1^p .

As in [20] we can caracterize the effective locus $Z_1^p \subset X_1^p$ in the following way. Let V_0^{\perp} be the kernel of the map $T_{X_0^p}^* \to V_0^*$. From the definition of the effective locus we immediately obtain the following characterization of Z_1^p .

Proposition 2.3. The effective locus Z_1^p is the locus where the pairing

$$^{2} \wedge V_{1} \otimes \pi^{*} d(V_{0}^{\perp}) \to \mathscr{O}_{X_{1}^{p}}$$

is zero.

By induction we define the k-jet bundle $X_k^p = G(p, V_{k-1})$, V_k , S_k and the effective locus Z_k^p , which is characterized by the previous proposition as the locus where the pairing

$$(2.4) \qquad \qquad {}^{2}V_{k} \otimes \pi^{*}d(V_{k-1}^{\perp}) \to \mathscr{O}_{X_{k}^{p}}$$

is zero.

We have the exact sequences

$$(2.5) 0 \to T_{X_b^p/X_b^p} \to V_k \to S_k \to 0,$$

$$(2.6) 0 \to S_k \otimes S_k^* \to \pi^* V_{k-1} \otimes S_k^* \to T_{X_k^p/X_{k-1}^p} \to 0,$$

where S_k is the tautological sub-bundle on X_k^p .

From the definition of X_1^p and S_1 and from the exact sequence (2.2) we get

$$\dim X_1^p = n + p(r - p),$$

 $\operatorname{rank} V_1 = p(r - p + 1),$

and therefore we deduce the formulas

$$\dim X_k^p = n + p(r - p) + \dots + p^k(r - p)$$

$$= n + (r - p)p \frac{(1 - p^k)}{(1 - p)}, \text{ for } p > 1,$$

$$= n + k(r - 1), \text{ for } p = 1.$$

$$\operatorname{rank} V_k = p^k(r - p) + p.$$

Recall that we have the Plucker embedding

$$\rho: G(p, V_{k-1}) \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}(\overset{p}{\wedge} V_{k-1}).$$

Therefore we have a line bundle $\mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(1)$ which is the restriction of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}(\stackrel{p}{\wedge}V_k)}(1)$. It is also equal to $(\stackrel{p}{\wedge}S_k)^{-1}$.

By definition there is a canonical injection $S_k \hookrightarrow \pi_{k-1,k}^* V_{k-1}$ where $\pi_{k-1,k} : X_k^p \to X_{k-1}^p$ is the natural projection. Therefore for $k \geq 2$ we obtain, by composition, a line bundle morphism

$$\bigwedge^{p} S_{k} \hookrightarrow \bigwedge^{p} \pi_{k-1,k}^{*} V_{k-1} \to \bigwedge^{p} \pi_{k-1,k}^{*} S_{k-1}.$$

We denote its zero divisor $D_k \subset X_k^p$. It corresponds to the set of p-planes in V_{k-1} which meet $T_{X_{k-1}^p/X_{k-2}^p}$ non trivially. We have

$$\mathcal{O}_{X_{k}^{p}}(1) = \pi_{k}^{*}\mathcal{O}_{X_{k-1}^{p}}(1) \otimes \mathcal{O}(D_{k}).$$

Then we define

$$X_k^{p,reg} = \bigcap_{2 \le j \le k} \pi_{j,k}^{-1}(X_j^p \setminus D_j),$$

$$X_k^{p,sing} = \bigcup_{2 \le j \le k} \pi_{j,k}^{-1}(D_j) = X_k^p \setminus X_k^{p,reg},$$

where $\pi_{j,k}: X_k^p \to X_j^p$ is the natural projection.

2.3. **Jet differentials.** Let $J_{k,p} = J_k(\mathbb{C}^p, X)$ be the space of k-jets of germs of holomorphic maps $f: (\mathbb{C}^p, 0) \to X$. We define the vector bundle of jet differentials of order k and degree $m, E_{p,k,m}^{GG} \to X$ to be the vector bundle whose fiber are complex valued polynomials $Q(f', f'', \ldots, f^{(k)})$ on the fibres of $J_{k,p}$ of weight (m, m, \ldots, m) with respect to the action of $(\mathbb{C}^*)^p$:

$$Q((\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_p).f) = \lambda_1^m \dots \lambda_n^m Q(f),$$

where

$$(\lambda_{1}, \dots, \lambda_{p}).f^{(i)} = (\lambda_{1}, \dots, \lambda_{p}).(\frac{\partial^{i} f}{\partial t_{1}^{i}}, \dots, \frac{\partial^{i} f}{\partial t_{1}^{i_{1}} \dots \partial t_{p}^{i_{p}}}, \dots, \frac{\partial^{i} f}{\partial t_{p}^{i}})$$

$$= (\lambda_{1}^{i} \frac{\partial^{i} f}{\partial t_{1}^{i}}, \dots, \lambda_{1}^{i_{1}} \dots \lambda_{p}^{i_{p}} \frac{\partial^{i} f}{\partial t_{1}^{i_{1}} \dots \partial t_{p}^{i_{p}}}, \dots, \lambda_{p}^{i_{p}} \frac{\partial^{i} f}{\partial t_{p}^{i}}).$$

Example 2.4. $E_{p,1,m}^{GG} = S^m T_X^* \otimes \cdots \otimes S^m T_X^*$, p times.

Now we define the subbundle $E_{p,k,m} \subset E_{p,k,m}^{GG}$ by the condition

(2.8)
$$Q(f \circ \varphi) = (J_{\varphi})^m Q(f) \circ \varphi,$$

for every $\varphi \in G_{p,k}$ the group of k-jets of germs of biholomorphisms of $(\mathbb{C}^p, 0)$, where J_{φ} denotes the jacobian of φ .

Example 2.5 (Jet differentials of order 1). Let us describe $E_{p,1,m}$. We are looking for polynomials of $S^mT_X^* \otimes ... \otimes S^mT_X^*$ (p times) invariant under $G_{p,1} = GL_p$. From [13] p.228, we deduce that

$$E_{p,1,m} = \Gamma^{(m,\dots,m,0,\dots,0)} T_X^*,$$

with p times m, r-p times 0 and Γ which denotes the Schur functor.

Remark 2.6. Now let us describe how one can obtain a filtration on $E_{p,k,m}$. We introduce the following notations. For $l \in \mathbb{N}$, let $I_l = \{i = (i_1, \ldots, i_p) : i_1 + \cdots + i_p = l\}$. We choose orders on the I_l . Letting $i \in I_k$ and considering the expression of highest degree in the $\frac{\partial^i f_j}{\partial t_1^{i_1} ... \partial t_p^{i_p}}$ that occurs, we see that there is a filtration

$$F_i = S_0 \subset S_1 \cdots \subset S_{[m/k]} = E_{p,k,m},$$

where

$$S_q/S_{q-1} \cong S^q T_X^* \otimes G_{i,q},$$

with F_i which consists of polynomials of $E_{p,k,m}$ which do not involve $\frac{\partial^i f}{\partial t_1^{i_1}...\partial t_p^{i_p}}$ and $G_{i,q}$ consisting of polynomials of weight (m, m, ..., m) - qi which do not involve $\frac{\partial^i f}{\partial t_1^{i_1}...\partial t_p^{i_p}}$. Inductively we get a filtration such that the graded terms are

$$\bigotimes_{i \in I_1} S^{q_i^1} T_X^* \cdots \bigotimes_{i \in I_k} S^{q_i^l} T_X^*,$$

with

$$\sum_{l=1}^{k} \sum_{i \in I_l} q_i^l i = (m, \dots, m).$$

2.4. Jet differentials and jet bundles. In this section we will take $V = T_X$ in the previous constructions. Let Δ be the unit disk and $f:\Delta^p\to X$ be a holomorphic map. We say it defines a regular k-jet if $rank(df_t) = p$ for every t. In this situation, as we have seen, f lifts to a well defined holomorphic map $f_{[1]}: \Delta^p \to X_1^p$ by taking $f_{[1]} = (f, [\frac{\partial f}{\partial t_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{\partial f}{\partial t_p}])$. Inductively, it lifts to a well defined map $f_{[k]}:\Delta^p\to X_k^p$. Moreover $\wedge^p df_{[k-1]}$ gives rise to a section $\overset{p}{\wedge} T_{\Delta^p} \to f_{[k]}^* \mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(-1).$

Theorem 2.7. Let X be a complex manifold, $\pi_{0,k}: X_k^p \to X$ the natural projection, $J_{k,p}^{reg} \subset$ $J_{k,p}$ the space of regular k-jets and $G_{p,k}$ the group of k-jets biholomorphisms of $(\mathbb{C}^p,0)$. There is a holomorphic embedding

$$J_{k,p}^{reg}/G_{p,k} \hookrightarrow Z_k^p \subset X_k$$

 $J_{k,p}^{reg}/G_{p,k} \hookrightarrow Z_k^p \subset X_k,$ which identifies $J_{k,p}^{reg}/G_{p,k}$ with $Z_k^{p,reg} = Z_k \cap X_k^{reg}$. So the effective locus Z_k^p is a natural relative compactification of $J_{k,p}^{reg}/G_{p,k}$ over X.

Proof. As explained at the beginning of this section, for $f \in J_{k,p}^{reg}$ we have a well defined lifting $f_{[k]}$ in X_k and the lifting process commutes with the reparametrization i.e. $(f \circ \varphi)_{[k]} = f_{[k]} \circ \varphi$. Therefore we have a map $J_{k,p}V^{reg}/G_{p,k} \to Z_k^p$ defined by $f \mod G_{p,k} \mapsto f_{[k]}(0)$. We can describe it in coordinates. Let (z_1,\ldots,z_n) be coordinates near a point $x \in X$ such that $V_x = \operatorname{Vect}(\frac{\partial}{\partial z_1}, \dots, \frac{\partial}{\partial z_r})$. There exist $\{i_1, \dots, i_p\} \subset \{1, \dots, r\}$ such that $g = (f_{i_1}, \dots, f_{i_p})$ is a biholomorphism at $0 \in \mathbb{C}^p$. Then we take the reparametrization $\varphi = g^{-1}$. Let us suppose $\{i_1,\ldots,i_p\}=\{1,2,\ldots,p\}$. Therefore $f\circ\varphi=(t_1,\ldots,t_p,h_{p+1},\ldots,h_n)$. Let $h=(h_{p+1},\ldots,h_r)$. Recall that X_k^p is a tower of $G(p, p^i(r-p) + p)$ -bundles $(0 \le i \le k-1)$, and on the affine charts of these Grassmannians, $f_{[k]}(0)$ is given by the collection of partial derivatives

$$((\frac{\partial h}{\partial t_1}, \dots, \frac{\partial h}{\partial t_p})(0); (\frac{\partial^2 h}{\partial t_i \partial t_j})(0); \dots; (\frac{\partial^k h}{\partial t_{i_1} \dots \partial t_{i_k}})(0)).$$

This proves the holomorphy. As for the identification of $J_{k,p}^{reg}/G_{p,k}$ with $Z_k^{p,reg}=Z_k^p\cap X_k^{p,reg}$, we refer to [1] and [20] where it is proved that one can define the effective locus as the closure of all possible k-th lifts $f_{[k]}$ of regular jets.

Theorem 2.8. Suppose $\binom{n}{n} \geq 2$ where $n = \dim X$. Then there is an injection of sheaves

$$(\pi_{0,k})_*\mathscr{O}_{Z_k^p}(m)\subset\mathscr{O}(E_{p,k,m}).$$

Proof. Let σ be a section of $H^0(Z^p_{k,x}, \mathscr{O}_{Z^p_{k,x}}(m))$ over a fiber $Z^p_{k,x}$, for $x \in X$. Let $f \in J^{reg}_{k,p,x}$, so $\bigwedge^p df_{[k-1]}(0)$ is an element of $\mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(-1)$ at $f_{[k]}(0)$. Then we define

(2.9)
$$Q_{\sigma}(f', f'', \dots, f^k) = \sigma(f_{[k]}(0)) \cdot (\bigwedge^p df_{[k-1]}(0))^m.$$

 Q_{σ} is holomorphic on $J_{k,p,x}^{reg}$ since σ is. If we reparametrize f by $\varphi \in G_{p,k}$, then $f_{[k]}(0)$ does not change and $d(f \circ \varphi)_{[k-1]}(0) = df_{[k-1]}(0).d\varphi(0)$. Therefore

$$^{p} \wedge d(f \circ \varphi)_{[k-1]}(0) = J_{\varphi}. \wedge df_{[k-1]}(0)$$

and the invariance condition (2.8) is satisfied. Since $J_{k,p}^{reg}$ is the complement of a codimension $\binom{n}{p}$ subvariety, by the hypothesis $\binom{n}{p} \geq 2$ we have that Q_{σ} extends holomorphically to $J_{k,p}$. So Q_{σ} can be written as a power series in the partial derivatives of f and the invariance condition implies that Q_{σ} is a polynomial of weight (m, m, \ldots, m) for the action of $(\mathbb{C}^*)^p$. So there is a natural map from $(\pi_{0,k})_* \mathscr{O}_{Z_k^p}(m)$ to $\mathscr{O}(E_{p,k,m})$. To see that it is injective it is sufficient to remark that the formula (2.9) implies that it is injective over $Z_k^{p,reg}$.

A natural problem is then to ask if the map of the previous theorem is an isomorphism (this is known to be true for p = 1 see [6], but we were unable to generalize this result to arbitrary p).

Problem 2.9. Is there an isomorphism $(\pi_{0,k})_* \mathscr{O}_{Z_k^p}(m) \simeq \mathscr{O}(E_{p,k,m})$?

3. Algebraic degeneracy of holomorphic maps

We start by recalling without proof the p-dimensional Ahlfors-Schwarz lemma.

Lemma 3.1 (see [6], Lemma 3.2). Let $\gamma(\mathbf{t}) = i\Sigma \gamma_{jk} dt_j \wedge d\overline{t}_k$ be an almost everywhere positive hermitian form on the ball $B(\mathbf{0}, R) \subset \mathbb{C}^p$ of radius R such that

$$i\partial \overline{\partial} \log \det \gamma \ge \alpha \cdot \gamma$$

for some constant $\alpha > 0$. Then

$$\det(\gamma) \le \left(\frac{p+1}{\alpha R^2}\right)^p \frac{1}{\left(1 - \frac{|\mathbf{t}|^2}{R^2}\right)^{p+1}}.$$

Using the previous lemma we can prove the natural degeneracy result, which generalizes [6, Theorem 7.8]. Before stating the theorem we recall the following standard definitions.

Definition 3.2. Let M be a complex manifold and L a holomorphic line bundle on it.

(i) A singular metric h on L is a metric which on any local trivialization $L_{|U} \cong U \times \mathbb{C}$ of L is of the form

$$|\xi|_h^2 = |\xi|^2 \exp(-\varphi),$$

for some real valued weight function $\varphi \in L^1_{loc}(U)$.

(ii) The curvature current of L w.r.t. a singular metric h is the closed (1,1) current

$$\Theta_h(L) := \frac{i}{2\pi} \partial \overline{\partial} \varphi$$

computed in the sense of distributions.

(iii) The singularity set $\operatorname{Sing}(h)$ of a singular metric h on L is the closed subset of points in a neighborhood of which the weight φ is not locally bounded.

(iv) A singular metric h on L has positive curvature if there exists a smooth positive definite hermitian metric ω and a continuous positive function ε on X such that

$$\Theta_h(L) > \varepsilon \cdot \omega$$
.

Theorem 3.3. Let (X, V) be a compact complex directed manifold, and $p \ge 1$ an integer. If there exists a metric $h = h_{p,k}$ with negative curvature on the line bundle $\mathcal{O}_{X_k^p}(-1)$ on X_k^p , then every maximal rank holomorphic mapping $f : \mathbb{C}^p \longrightarrow X$ which is tangent to V is such that

$$\overline{\mathrm{Im}(f_{[k]})} \subset \mathrm{Sing}(h),$$

where $\overline{\mathrm{Im}(f_{[k]})}$ denotes the Zariski closure of the image of $f_{[k]}$.

Proof. By the negativity of the metric h, there exists a smooth hermitian metric $\omega = \omega_k$ on X_k and a positive function ε such that

$$\Theta_{h^{-1}}(\mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(1))(\xi) \ge \varepsilon \cdot |\xi|_{\omega}^2, \quad \forall \xi \in V_k.$$

On the other hand, since by (2.5) the differential $(\pi_k)_*$ maps V_k continuously onto $\mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(-1)$, there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$|(\pi_k)_*\xi|_h^2 \le C \cdot |\xi|_\omega^2, \quad \forall \xi \in V_k.$$

Combining the previous two inequalities we find

(3.1)
$$\Theta_{h^{-1}}(\mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(1))(\xi) \ge \frac{\varepsilon}{C} \cdot |(\pi_k)_* \xi|_h^2, \quad \forall \xi \in V_k.$$

By abuse of notation we still denote by $f: B(\mathbf{0}, R) \longrightarrow X$ the restriction to the ball of radius R of a maximal rank holomorphic mapping $f: \mathbb{C}^p \longrightarrow X$. The Jacobian of the (k-1)-st lifting of f yields a section

$$F := \operatorname{Jac}(f_{[k-1]}) : T_{B(\mathbf{0},R)} \longrightarrow f_{[k]}^* \mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(-1)$$

which we use to pull-back the metric h to $B(\mathbf{0},R)$:

$$\gamma := \gamma_0(\mathbf{t}) \cdot d\mathbf{t} \otimes d\overline{\mathbf{t}} = F^*h.$$

Notice that the metric γ is everywhere defined for the following reason: by Remark 2.1 the map $f_{[k-1]}$ is well defined on a codimension ≥ 2 subset. Therefore F is well defined on the complement of a codimension ≥ 2 subset and we can extend it to the whole ball $B(\mathbf{0}, R)$. We now argue by contradiction and assume that $f_{[k]}(B(\mathbf{0}, R)) \not\subset \operatorname{Sing}(h)$. Outside $f_{[k]}^{-1}(\operatorname{Sing}(h))$ using (3.1) we obtain:

$$\frac{i\partial\overline{\partial}\log\det\gamma(\mathbf{t})}{\gamma(\mathbf{t})} = \frac{-2\pi f_{[k]}^*\Theta_h(\mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(-1))}{F^*h} = \frac{\Theta_{h^{-1}}(\mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(1))(\operatorname{Jac}(f_{[k]}(\mathbf{t})))}{|\operatorname{Jac}(f_{[k-1]}(\mathbf{t}))|_h^2} \geq \frac{\varepsilon}{C},$$

since $\operatorname{Jac}(f_{[k-1]})(\mathbf{t}) = (\pi_k)_* \operatorname{Jac}(f_{[k]})(\mathbf{t})$. We can therefore invoke Lemma 3.1 and deduce the inequality

$$|\operatorname{Jac}(f_{[k-1]}(\mathbf{t}))|_h^2 \le \frac{2C}{\varepsilon} \frac{R^{-2}}{(1-|\mathbf{t}|^2/R^2)^2}.$$

If we now let $R \longrightarrow +\infty$, we obtain that $f_{[k-1]}$, and therefore f, cannot have maximal rank, which contradicts the hypothesis.

From Theorem 3.3 we deduce the following.

Corollary 3.4. Let (X, V) be a compact complex directed manifold, and $p \ge 1$ an integer. Assume there exist integers k, m > 0 and an ample line bundle A on X such that the linear system $|\mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(m) \otimes \pi_{0,k}^*\mathscr{O}_X(-A)|$ is not empty. Then for every maximal rank holomorphic mapping $f: \mathbb{C}^p \longrightarrow X$ which is tangent to V we have

$$\overline{\operatorname{Im} f_{[k]}} \subset \operatorname{Base} \Big(|\mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(m) \otimes \pi_{0,k}^* \mathscr{O}_X(-A)| \Big).$$

Proof. Recall that a base of global sections of $\mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(m) \otimes \pi_{0,k}^* \mathscr{O}_X(-A)$ allows to construct a singular metric h on $\mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(-1)$ with negative curvature and such that $\operatorname{Sing}(h) = \operatorname{Base}(|\mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(m) \otimes \pi_{0,k}^* \mathscr{O}_X(-A)|) \cup X_k^{\operatorname{Sing}}$. (see [6, §7.7] for the details). Thus from Theorem 3.3 we deduce the inclusion

$$\overline{\mathrm{Im}(f_{[k]})} \subset \mathrm{Base}\left(|\mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(m) \otimes \pi_{0,k}^*\mathscr{O}_X(-A)|\right) \cup X_k^{\mathrm{Sing}}.$$

Since f has maximal rank, the (Zariski closure of the) image of its k-th lifting cannot be entirely contained in X_k^{Sing} , and we are done.

From the previous corollary we see that an important step towards the algebraic degeneracy of holomorphic maps is the existence of non-zero global sections in

$$H^0(Z_k^p, \mathscr{O}_{Z_k^p}(m) \otimes \pi_{0,k}^* \mathscr{O}_X(-A)) \subset H^0(X, E_{p,k,m} \otimes \mathscr{O}_X(-A)).$$

Example 3.5. The first step towards the existence of non-zero global differential operators often consists in a Riemann-Roch computation. Following example 2.5, if X is a complex compact manifold of dimension 3, a Riemann-Roch computation gives:

$$\chi(X, E_{p,1,m}) = \chi(X, \Gamma^{(m,m,0)}T_X^*) \sim \frac{1}{120}(4c_1^3 - 3c_1c_2 - c_3)m^5.$$

Since in general it may be difficult to estimate the $h^2(X, E_{p,1,m})$, from the previous computation one cannot immediately deduce the existence of a non-zero section of $E_{p,1,m}$ when $\chi > 0$. Moreover, if $X \subset \mathbb{P}^4$ is a smooth hypersurface we will see in §5 that $h^0(X, E_{p,1,m}) = h^0(X, \Gamma^{(m,m,0)}T_X^*) = 0$.

We end this section recalling the following result which will be used in the application presented in §6.1.

Proposition 3.6 ([6], Proposition 7.2, ii)). Let L be a holomorphic line bundle on a compact complex manifold. Let B_m be the base locus of the linear system |mL| and $\Phi_m = \Phi_{|mL|}$ be the meromorphic map associated to |mL|. Let Σ_m be the closed analytic subset equal to the union of B_m and the set of points $x \in (X \setminus B_m)$ such that the fiber $\Phi_m^{-1}(\Phi_m(x))$ is positive dimensional. Then, if $\Sigma_m \neq X$ and G is any line bundle on X, the base locus of kL - G is contained in Σ_m for $k \gg 0$. In particular L admits a singular hermitian metric h with degeneration set Σ_m and with $\Theta_h(L)$ positive definite on X.

4. Relative and absolute positivity of the line bundles $\mathscr{O}_{X_i^p}(\mathbf{a})$

Let X be a complex projective manifold. For any positive integers p and k consider the jet bundles X_k^p constructed in §2, together with their natural projections

$$\pi_{j,k} := \pi_{j,k}^p : X_k^p \longrightarrow X_j^p, \quad 0 \le j \le k$$

(the map $\pi_{k,k}$ is the identity map). For any $\mathbf{a} = (a_1, \dots, a_k) \in \mathbf{Z}^k$ we define a line bundle $\mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(\mathbf{a})$ on X_k^p as follows:

$$\mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(\mathbf{a}) := \bigotimes_{j=1}^k \pi_{j,k}^* \mathscr{O}_{X_j^p}(a_j).$$

From equation (2.7), we deduce the equality

$$\pi_{j,k}^* \mathscr{O}_{X_i^p}(1) = \mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(1) \otimes \mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(-\pi_{j+1,k}^* D_{j+1} - \dots - D_k).$$

Thus by putting $D_i^* = \pi_{i+1,k}^* D_{i+1}$ for $i=1,\ldots,k-1$ and $D_k^* = 0$, we have

$$\mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(\mathbf{a}) = \mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(b_k) \otimes \mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(-\mathbf{b} \cdot D^*),$$

where

$$\mathbf{b} = (b_1, \dots, b_k) \in \mathbf{Z}^k, b_j = a_1 + \dots + a_j,$$
$$\mathbf{b} \cdot D^* = \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} b_j \pi_{j+1,k}^* D_{j+1}.$$

In particular, if $\mathbf{b} \in \mathbf{N}^k$, we get a nontrivial morphism

$$\mathscr{O}_{X_{b}^{p}}(\mathbf{a}) = \mathscr{O}_{X_{b}^{p}}(b_{k}) \otimes \mathscr{O}_{X_{b}^{p}}(-\mathbf{b} \cdot D^{*}) \to \mathscr{O}_{X_{b}^{p}}(b_{k}).$$

For the applications it is very useful to determine for which $\mathbf{a} = (a_1, \dots, a_k) \in \mathbf{Z}^k$ the line bundle $\mathscr{O}_{X_k^p}(\mathbf{a})$ is (relatively) positive. In the rest of the section we omit the index p to lighten the notation.

Lemma 4.1. The vector bundle $S_k \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X_k}(1)$ is relatively nef over X.

Proof. Recall that if we have a short exact sequence of vector bundles

$$0 \longrightarrow F \longrightarrow E \longrightarrow G \longrightarrow 0, \quad s = \operatorname{rank}(F)$$

the nefness of $\wedge^{s-1}E^*$ implies the nefness of its quotient $F \otimes (\det F)^{-1} \cong \wedge^{s-1}F^*$. The lemma follows from this fact applied to the tautological exact sequence on the Grassmannian. \square

Proposition 4.2. Let X be a complex projective manifold and p and k two positive integers. Let $A_k = A_k^p$ and $B_k = B_k^p$ be the line bundles on $X_k = X_k^p$ defined recursively as follows:

$$A_0 := \mathscr{O}_X(2p), \quad A_k := \mathscr{O}_{X_k}(p^2 + 1) \otimes \pi_{k-1,k}^*(A_{k-1}^{\otimes (p^2 + 2)}),$$

and

$$B_0 := \mathscr{O}_X, \ B_k := \mathscr{O}_{X_k}(p^2 + 1) \otimes \pi_{k-1,k}^*(B_{k-1}^{\otimes (p^2 + 2)}).$$

Then the line bundle

$$\mathscr{O}_{X_k}(1) \otimes \pi_{k-1,k}^*(A_{k-1})$$

(respectively

$$\mathscr{O}_{X_k}(1) \otimes \pi_{k-1,k}^*(B_{k-1}))$$

is nef (resp. relatively nef over X.)

Proof. In both cases the proof is by induction on k and follows the same path. Therefore we present it in a unified way. Let L_k be the line bundle for which we want to prove that $\mathscr{O}_{X_k}(1) \otimes \pi_{k-1,k}^*(L_{k-1})$ verifies the desired positivity property (P) (which is the nefness in case $L_k = A_k$, and relative nefness over X in case $L_k = B_k$). By definition $\mathscr{O}_{X_1}(1) \otimes \pi_{0,1}^*(L_0)$ is relatively nef, when $L_0 = B_0$. In case $L_0 = A_0$, remark that $\Omega_X^1(2)$ is nef, hence $\Omega_X^p(2p)$ is. Using the embedding $G(p, T_X) \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}(\Omega_X^p)$ we deduce that $\mathscr{O}_{X_1}(1) \otimes \pi_{0,1}^*\mathscr{O}_X(2p)$ is nef. The base of the induction is now completed.

Dualizing the short exact sequence (2.5) and tensoring with L_k we get

$$(4.2) 0 \longrightarrow S_k^* \otimes L_k \longrightarrow V_k^* \otimes L_k \longrightarrow \Omega^1_{X_k|X_{k-1}} \otimes L_k \longrightarrow 0.$$

If L_k is such that

(4.3) (a) $S_k^* \otimes L_k$ verifies property (P) and (b) $\Omega^1_{X_k|X_{k-1}} \otimes L_k$ verifies property (P),

then, by (4.2), the bundle $V_k^* \otimes L_k$ verifies property (P) over X (which, by definition, is equivalent to property (P) for $\mathscr{O}_{X_{k+1}}(1) \otimes \pi_{k,k+1}^* L_k$).

As for (a) recall that we have the injection $S_k \hookrightarrow \pi_{k,k-1}^* V_{k-1}$, or equivalently the surjection

$$\pi_{k,k-1}^* V_{k-1}^* \to S_k^*.$$

Therefore if $\pi_{k,k-1}^*V_{k-1}^*\otimes L_k$ verifies property (P), then so does $S_k^*\otimes L_k$. If we chose L_k such that

$$(4.4) L_k \ge \pi_{k,k-1}^* L_{k-1},$$

then

$$\pi_{k,k-1}^* V_{k-1}^* \otimes L_k \ge \pi_{k,k-1}^* (V_{k-1}^* \otimes L_{k-1})$$

(the relation \geq is the one given by the cone of line bundles verifying property (P)). Since $V_{k-1}^* \otimes L_{k-1}$ verifies property (P) by induction we are done, and (4.3), item (a) is proved. As for (4.3), item (b), recall that if we have a short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow E \longrightarrow F \longrightarrow G \longrightarrow 0$$
,

then we have an injection

$$G \otimes \det(E) \hookrightarrow \wedge^{\operatorname{rank}(E)+1} F$$
.

Recall moreover that $\det(S_k \otimes S_k^*) = \mathscr{O}_{X_k}$. Therefore from (2.6) we get an injection

$$(4.5) T_{X_k|X_{k-1}} \hookrightarrow \wedge^{p^2+1} \pi_{k-1,k}^* V_{k-1} \otimes S_k^*,$$

or, equivalently, a surjection

(4.6)
$$\wedge^{p^2+1} \pi_{k-1,k}^* V_{k-1}^* \otimes S_k \to \Omega^1_{X_k|X_{k-1}}.$$

Notice that $S_k \otimes \mathscr{O}_{X_k}(1)$ is relatively nef over X by Lemma 4.1 and $\pi_{k-1,k}^*(V_{k-1}^* \otimes L_{k-1})$ verifies property (P) by the inductive hypothesis. Hence if L_k is such that

$$(4.7) L_k \ge (\pi_{k-1,k}^* L_{k-1} \otimes \mathscr{O}_{X_k}(1))^{\otimes (p^2+1)},$$

then

$$(4.8) L_k \otimes \wedge^{p^2+1} \pi_{k-1,k}^* V_{k-1}^* \otimes S_k \ge \wedge^{p^2+1} (\pi_{k-1,k}^* (V_{k-1}^* \otimes L_{k-1}) \otimes S_k \otimes \mathscr{O}_{X_k}(1)).$$

Thus from the surjection (4.6) tensored by L_k we get

$$L_k \otimes \wedge^{p^2+1}(\pi_{k-1,k}^* V_{k-1}^* \otimes S_k) \twoheadrightarrow \Omega^1_{X_k|X_{k-1}} \otimes L_k,$$

and we deduce that $\Omega^1_{X_k|X_{k-1}} \otimes L_k$ verifies property (P). So (4.3), item (b) is proved. To conclude the proof of the proposition we need to define L_k so that conditions (4.4) and (4.7) are satisfied. For that we set

$$L_k := \mathscr{O}_k(2) \otimes \pi_{k-1,k}^* L_{k-1}^{\otimes 3},$$

and we are done.

Remark 4.3. Notice that the proof of Proposition 4.2 shows that L_k is relatively ample over X, since $\mathcal{O}_k(1) \otimes \pi_{k-1,k}^* L_{k-1}$ is relatively nef over X and relatively ample over X_{k-1} .

Corollary 4.4. Let X be a complex projective manifold and p and k two positive integers. Then the line bundle

$$\left(\mathscr{O}_{X_k}(1)\otimes\pi_{k-1,k}^*(B_{k-1})\right)\otimes\left(\pi_{0,k}^*(\mathscr{O}_X(\ell))\right)$$

is nef, for all $\ell \geq 2p(p^2+2)^{k-1}$. In particular the line bundle $\mathcal{O}_{X_k}(1) \otimes \pi_{k-1,k}^*(B_{k-1})$ may be written as the difference of two nef line line bundles. Namely we have :

$$\mathscr{O}_{X_k}(1) \otimes \pi_{k-1,k}^*(B_{k-1}) = \left(\mathscr{O}_{X_k}(1) \otimes \pi_{k-1,k}^*(A_{k-1})\right) \otimes \left(\pi_{0,k}^* \mathscr{O}_X(2p(p^2+2)^{k-1})\right)^{-1}.$$

Because of its importance for our main application, we state more explicitly the case p = k = 2 of the previous corollary.

Corollary 4.5. Let X be a complex projective manifold. The line bundle $\mathcal{O}_{X_2^2}(1) \otimes \pi_{1,2}^*(B_1)$ may be written as the difference of two nef line bundles as follows:

$$\mathscr{O}_{X_2^2}(1) \otimes \pi_{1,2}^*(B_1) = \left(\mathscr{O}_{X_2^2}(5,1) \otimes \pi_{0,2}^*\mathscr{O}_X(24)\right) \otimes \left(\pi_{0,2}^*\mathscr{O}_X(24)\right)^{-1}.$$

5. A Vanishing theorem for global sections of $E_{p,k,m}$

In this section we will prove the following theorem

Theorem 5.1. Let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^N$ be a smooth complete intersection. Then

$$H^0(X, E_{n,k,m}^{GG}) = 0,$$

for all $m \geq 1$ and k such that

$$\binom{k+p}{p} - 1 < \dim(X)/\operatorname{codim}(X).$$

Remark 5.2. This result generalizes [10, Theorem 1] where the result was proved for p = 1.

The main ingredient of the proof is the following theorem of Brückmann and Rackwitz.

Theorem 5.3 ([3], Corollary at the top of p. 634). Let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^N$ be a smooth complete intersection of dimension n. Let T be any Young tableau and t_i the number of cells inside the i-th column of T. Set

$$t := \sum_{i=1}^{N-n} t_i,$$

where $t_i = 0$, if i > length(T). Then if t < n one has

$$H^0(Y, \Gamma^T T_X^*) = 0,$$

where Γ is the Schur functor.

Now we can prove Theorem 5.1.

Proof. We have seen in Remark 2.6 that the bundle $E_{p,k,m}^{GG}$ admits a filtration whose graded terms are

$$\bigotimes_{i \in I_1} S^{q_i^1} T_X^* \cdots \bigotimes_{i \in I_k} S^{q_i^l} T_X^*,$$

such that

$$\sum_{l=1}^{k} \sum_{i \in I_{l}} q_{i}^{l} i = (m, \dots, m).$$

Let $n = \dim(X)$. Looking at the decomposition of these terms into irreducible $Gl(T_X^*)$ representations, we see that they are all of type $\Gamma^{(\lambda_1,\dots,\lambda_n)}T_X^*$ with $\lambda_i = 0$ for

$$i > \sum_{l=1}^{k} |I_l|.$$

Moreover we have $|I_l| = \binom{l+p-1}{p-1}$, therefore $\sum_{l=1}^k |I_l| = \binom{p+k}{p} - 1$. So if T is the tableau associated to the partition $\lambda_1 + \cdots + \lambda_n$ we get

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N-n} t_i \le \sum_{i=1}^{N-n} \binom{p+k}{p} - 1 = (N-n) \left(\binom{p+k}{p} - 1 \right) < \frac{n}{N-n} (N-n) = n.$$

Applying Theorem 5.3 we obtain the vanishing of global sections of each graded piece and therefore of the bundle $E_{p,k,m}^{GG}$ itself.

Remark 5.4. Since $E_{p,k,m}$ is a subbundle of $E_{p,k,m}^{GG}$, we obtain of course the vanishing of global sections of $E_{p,k,m}$, too.

6. First consequences of the basic constructions

6.1. Holomorphic maps to complex tori. The purpose of this subsection is to prove the following result.

Theorem 6.1. Let Y be a complex torus, $p \ge 1$ an integer and $f: \mathbb{C}^p \to Y$ a holomorphic map of maximal rank. Then the (analytic) Zariski closure $\overline{f(\mathbb{C}^p)^{Zar}}$ is a translate of a subtorus, i.e. of the form a + Y', where $a \in Y$ is a point and $Y' \subset Y$ is a subtorus.

The theorem above has been proved by Demailly [6, Theorem 9.1] in the case p=1. When Z is an abelian variety the result has been obtained in [32] (see also [15] for a proof via Nevanlinna theory). Thanks to our general constructions, and in particular to the degeneracy result Theorem 3.3, Demailly's approach (which follows ideas going back to Green and Griffiths) may be adopted for arbitrary $p \geq 1$. Notice that Theorem 6.1 is not a consequence of the case p=1, since a priori a union of translates of subtori may well be not isomorphic to a subtorus.

Proof of Theorem 6.1. The proof is by induction on the dimension of Y. The statement is true when $\dim(Y) = 1$. Suppose the theorem holds in dimension n-1. Let Y be an n-dimensional complex torus. Let $f: \mathbb{C}^p \to Y$ be a maximal rank holomorphic map. Let X be the Zariski closure of its image. Let $Y_k = Y_k^p$ be the k-jet bundle of Y and X_k the closure of $X_k^{reg} = X_k^{p,reg}$ in Y_k . Since the tangent bundle T_Y is trivial, so is the k-jet bundle $Y_k = Y \times \mathbb{G}_k$, where \mathbb{G}_k is the tower of Grassmannians over an arbitrary point of Y which we have defined in §2. By Remark 4.3 there exists a weight $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbf{N}^k$ for which $\mathscr{O}_{Y_k}(\mathbf{a})$ is relatively very ample, i.e. $\mathscr{O}_{Y_k}(\mathbf{a})$ is the pull back of a very ample line bundle $\mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{G}_k}(\mathbf{a})$ on \mathbb{G}_k , via the natural projection $Y_k \times \mathbb{G}_k \to \mathbb{G}_k$. Let $\Phi_k : X_k \to \mathbb{G}_k$ be the morphism induced by the second projection. By functoriality we have

$$\mathscr{O}_{X_k}(\mathbf{a}) = \mathscr{O}_{Y_k}(\mathbf{a})_{|X_k} = \Phi_k^* \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{G}_k}(\mathbf{a}).$$

Let $\Sigma_k \subset X_k$ be the set of points $x \in X_k$ such that the fiber $\Phi_k^{-1}(\Phi_k(x))$ is positive dimensional. Assume $\Sigma_k \neq X_k$. Since the base locus of $\mathscr{O}_{X_k}(\mathbf{a})$ is empty, by Proposition 3.6 the line bundle $\mathscr{O}_{X_k}(\mathbf{a})$ carries a hermitian metric with degeneration set Σ_k and with strictly positive definite curvature. By Theorem 3.3 we deduce that

$$f_{[k]}(\mathbb{C}^p)\subset\Sigma_k$$

(this inclusion is obvious if $\Sigma_k = X_k$). Because of the previous inclusion, through every point $f_{[k]}(\mathbf{t_0})$ of the image of $f_{[k]}$ there is a germ of a (positive dimensional) variety in the fiber $\Phi_k^{-1}(\Phi_k(f_{[k]}(\mathbf{t_0})))$. Let $t' \mapsto u(t') = (y(t'), j_k) \in X_k \subset Y \times \mathbb{G}_k$ be the germ of a curve in $\Phi_k^{-1}(\Phi_k(f_{[k]}(\mathbf{t_0})))$. We have $u(0) = f_{[k]}(\mathbf{t_0}) = (y_0, j_k)$ and $y_0 = f(\mathbf{t_0})$. Then $(y(t'), j_k)$ is the image of $f_{[k]}(\mathbf{t_0})$ by the k-th lifting of the translation $\tau_s : y \mapsto y + s$, where $s = y(t') - y_0$. Notice that the image of f cannot be entirely contained in the singular locus X^{Sing} of X. Therefore we may choose $\mathbf{t_0}$ so that $f(\mathbf{t_0})$ is a regular point. Consider

$$A_k(f) := \{ s \in Y : f_{[k]}(\mathbf{t_0}) \in X_k \cap (\tau_{-s}(X))_k \},\,$$

where $(\tau_{-s}(X))_k$ is the k-th jet bundle of the subvariety $\tau_{-s}(X) \subset Y$, obtained by the translation defined by -s. By construction $A_k(f)$ is an analytic subset containing the germ of the curve $t' \mapsto s(t') := y(t') - y_0$. Since $A_1(f) \supset A_2(f) \supset \ldots \supset A_k(f) \supset$ by notherianity the sequence must stabilize at some $A_k(f)$. Therefore there exists a germ of curve $D(0,r) \to Y$, $t' \mapsto s(t')$ such that the infinite jet defined by f at $\mathbf{t_0}$ is s(t')-translation invariant for all $t' \in D(0,r)$. By the uniqueness of the analytic continuation the same must be true for all $\mathbf{t} \in \mathbb{C}^p$, that is

$$s(t') + f(\mathbf{t}) \in X, \ \forall t' \in D(0, r), \ \forall \mathbf{t} \in \mathbb{C}^p.$$

By the irreducibility of X we have

$$s(t') + X = X.$$

Consider

$$W := \{ s \in Y : s + X = X \}.$$

Then W is a closed subgroup of Y which is not empty by the above. Let $p: Y \to Y/W$ be the quotient map. Notice that Y/W is a complex torus of dimension $< \dim(Y)$. Consider the composed map $\hat{f} := p \circ f: \mathbb{C}^p \to Y/W$. Take a subspace $\mathbb{C}^q \subset \mathbb{C}^p$ such that $\overline{\hat{f}(\mathbb{C}^q)}^{Zar} = \overline{\hat{f}(\mathbb{C}^p)}^{Zar}$ and the restriction $\hat{f}_{|\mathbb{C}^q}$ has maximal rank. By the inductive hypothesis $\overline{\hat{f}(\mathbb{C}^q)}^{Zar}$ is the translate $\hat{s}+\hat{T}$ of a subtorus \hat{T} . Since, by definition of W, the variety X is W-invariant, we get that $X = s + p^{-1}(\hat{T})$. Since $p^{-1}(\hat{T})$ is a closed subgroup of Y the theorem is proved. \square

6.2. Families of holomorphic maps to the universal hypersurface and to its complement. When dealing with families of varieties the following result, which is a relative version (in the case k = 1) of the degeneracy theorem proved in §3, turns out to be very useful.

Theorem 6.2. Let T be a complex manifold of dimension N containing \mathbb{C}^N . Let $\mathscr{Y} \to T$ be a smooth family of projective varieties of relative dimension n, \mathscr{D} an effective divisor on \mathscr{Y} with simple normal crossing support that does not contain any fiber Y_t of the family. Let \mathscr{A} be a relatively ample line bundle on \mathscr{Y} and m and p positive integers. Let $U \subset T$ be an open subset and $\mathscr{Y}_U \to U$ be the induced family. Then for every section $Q \in H^0(\mathscr{Y}_U, \operatorname{Sym}^m \Omega^{p+N}_{\mathscr{Y}_U}(\log \mathscr{D}) \otimes \mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{Y}_U}(-\mathscr{A}))$, every holomorphic mapping $\Phi : \mathbb{C}^p \times U \to \mathscr{Y} \setminus \mathscr{D}$ $(1 \leq p \leq n)$ such that $\Phi(\mathbb{C}^p \times \{t\}) \subset Y_t$ for every $t \in U$ and whose Jacobian J_{Φ} has maximal rank at some point must satisfy the algebraic differential equation $Q(\Phi) = 0$.

An immediate consequence is the following.

Corollary 6.3. In the situation of Theorem 6.2, if the sheaf $\operatorname{Sym}^m \Omega^{p+N}_{\mathscr{Y}_U}(\log \mathscr{D}) \otimes \mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{Y}_U}(-\mathscr{A})$) is generated by its global sections, then there is no maximal rank holomorphic mapping Φ : $\mathbb{C}^p \times U \to \mathscr{Y} \setminus \mathscr{D}$.

Set $\mathbb{P}^{N_d} := \mathbb{P}H^0(\mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(d))^*$. From the previous degeneracy result, using the global generation of the sheaf of twisted (logarithmic) vector fields on the universal degree d hypersurface $\mathscr{X} \subset \mathbb{P}^n \times \mathbb{P}^{N_d}$ (respectively on its complement) we deduce the following corollaries.

Corollary 6.4. Let $\Phi: \mathbb{C}^p \times \mathbb{P}^{N_d} \to \mathscr{X}$ $(1 \leq p \leq n-1)$ be a holomorphic map such that $\Phi(\mathbb{C}^p \times \{t\}) \subset X_t$ for all $t \in \mathbb{P}^{N_d}$. If $d \geq 2n+1-p$, the rank of Φ cannot be maximal anywhere.

Corollary 6.5. Let $\Phi: \mathbb{C}^p \times \mathbb{P}^{N_d} \to \mathbb{P}^n \times \mathbb{P}^{N_d} \setminus \mathcal{X}$ $(1 \leq p \leq n)$ be a holomorphic map such that $\Phi(\mathbb{C}^p \times \{t\}) \subset \mathbb{P}^n \setminus X_t$ for all $t \in \mathbb{P}^{N_d}$. If $d \geq 2n + 2 - p$, the rank of Φ cannot be maximal anywhere.

The previous corollaries were proved for p=1 in [9, Theorem 1], and [24, Theorem 6] respectively. The compact case may be seen as a generalization to the transcendental setting of the main result of [11]. For the terminology and notation in the logarithmic framework we refer the reader to [16]. Assuming Theorem 6.2 for the moment let us show how we can derive from it the two corollaries. To simplify the notation, line bundles of the form $pr_1^*\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(a)\otimes pr_2^*\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{N_d}}(b)$ will be denoted by $\mathcal{O}(a,b)$. Recall that $\mathscr{X}\subset\mathbb{P}^n\times\mathbb{P}^{N_d}$ is of bidegree (d,1). Thus its canonical bundle is $K_{\mathscr{X}}\cong\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}}(d-n-1,-N_d)$.

Proof of Corollary 6.4. Notice that we have the following isomorphism

(6.1)
$$\Omega_{\mathscr{X}}^{N+p}(-1,0) \cong (\wedge^{n-1-p}T_{\mathscr{X}}) \otimes K_{\mathscr{X}}(-1,0)$$
$$\cong \left(\wedge^{n-1-p}\left(T_{\mathscr{X}}(1,0)\right)\right) \otimes \mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{X}}(d-2n-1+p,-N_d).$$

By [29, Lemma 4] the sheaf $T_{\mathscr{X}}(1,0)$ is globally generated. Take an open subset $U \subset \mathbb{P}^{N_d}$ trivializing $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{X}}(0,-N_d)$. By (6.1) the sheaf $\Omega^{N+p}_{\mathscr{X}_U}(-1,0)$ is generated by its global sections as soon as $d \geq 2n+1-p$. The corollary now follows from Corollary 6.3 applied to $\mathscr{Y} = \mathscr{X}$, $\mathscr{D} = 0$, $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{X}}(-1,0)$ and T equal to \mathbb{P}^{N_d} .

Proof of Corollary 6.5. Set $\mathbb{P} = \mathbb{P}^n \times \mathbb{P}^{N_d}$. We have the following isomorphism

(6.2)
$$\Omega_{\mathbb{P}}^{N+p}(\log \mathscr{X})(-1,0) \cong (\wedge^{n-p}T_{\mathbb{P}}(-\log \mathscr{X})) \otimes K_{\mathbb{P}} \otimes \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathscr{X})(-1,0)$$
$$\cong \left(\wedge^{n-p}\left(T_{\mathbb{P}}(-\log \mathscr{X})(1,0)\right)\right) \otimes \mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{X}}(d-2n-2+p,-N_d).$$

By [24, Proposition 11] the sheaf $T_{\mathbb{P}}(-\log \mathscr{X})(1,0)$ is globally generated. Take an open subset $U \subset \mathbb{P}^{N_d}$ trivializing $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{X}}(0,-N_d)$. By (6.2) the sheaf $\Omega^{N+p}_{\mathbb{P}_U}(\log \mathscr{X}_U)(-1,0)$ is generated by its global sections as soon as $d \geq 2n+2-p$. The corollary now follows from Corollary 6.3 applied to $\mathscr{Y} = \mathbb{P}$, $\mathscr{D} = \mathscr{X}$, $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1,0)$ and T equal to \mathbb{P}^{N_d} .

We pass now to the proof of the relative degeneracy result.

Proof of Theorem 6.2. Consider a holomorphic map $\Phi: \mathbb{C}^p \times T \to \mathscr{Y} \setminus \mathscr{D}$ with maximal rank and a section $Q \in H^0(\mathscr{Y}, \operatorname{Sym}^m \Omega^{p+N}_{\mathscr{Y}}(\log \mathscr{D}) \otimes \mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{Y}}(-\mathscr{A}))$. To lighten the (already heavy) notation we will write the proof for m = 1. We let z_1, \ldots, z_p be the coordinates on \mathbb{C}^p and ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_{N_d} be the coordinates on T. Let

$$J_{\Phi}(\underline{z},\underline{\xi}) = \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial z_1} \wedge \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial z_2} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial z_p} \wedge \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \xi_1} \wedge \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \xi_2} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \xi_{N_d}} (\underline{z},\underline{\xi}) \in \bigwedge^{p+N_d} \Phi^* T_{\mathscr{Y},\Phi(\underline{z},\underline{\xi})}$$

be the Jacobian of Φ . We argue by contradiction and suppose that

$$\Phi^*Q(J_\Phi)$$

gives a non-zero section of $\Phi^*\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{Y}}(-\mathscr{A})$. Without loss of generality we may assume that $\Phi^*Q(J_{\Phi})$ is non-zero at the origin. We denote by $\mathbb{B}(r) \subset \mathbb{C}$ the disc of radius r centered at the origin.

Fix a positive δ_0 and, for every positive integer k consider the following sequence of maps

$$\Phi_k: \mathbb{B}(\delta_0 k)^{N_d + p} \to \mathscr{Y} \setminus \mathscr{D}$$

given by

$$\Phi_k(z_1, \dots, z_p, \xi_1, \dots, \xi_{N_d}) = \Phi(z_1 k^{N_d}, \dots, z_p k^{N_d}, \frac{1}{k^p} \xi_1, \dots, \frac{1}{k^p} \xi_{N_d}).$$

Since $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{Y}}(\mathscr{A})$ is relatively ample eventually after shrinking the base T we can endow it with a metric $h_{\mathscr{A}}$ with positive curvature. For any $\underline{w} \in \mathbb{B}(\delta_0 k)^{N_d + p}$ set

(6.3)
$$f_k(\underline{w}) = \|\Phi_k^* Q(J_{\Phi_k})(\underline{w})\|_{\Phi_k^* h_{\underline{\omega}}^{-1}}^{2/(N_d + p)}.$$

By construction we have that the value at the origin is independent of k and not zero, since

(6.4)
$$f_k(\underline{0}) = \|\Phi_k^* Q(J_\Phi)(\underline{0})\|_{\Phi^* h_{-\alpha}^{-1}}^{2/(N_d + p)} \neq 0.$$

Theorem 6.2 follows from the contradiction of (6.4) with the following.

Proposition 6.6. For each $k \ge 1$ we have $f_k(\underline{0}) \le C \cdot k^{-2}$. In particular, as $k \to \infty$, we have $f_k(\underline{0}) \to 0$.

Proof. First notice that because of the positivity of h_A , for every k>0 we have

(6.5)
$$\Delta \log(f_k) \ge C \cdot f_k.$$

Then, consider the volume form of the Poincaré metric on the polydisc

$$\psi_k = \prod_{j=1}^p \frac{1}{\left(1 - \frac{|z_j|^2}{\delta_0^2 k^2}\right)^2} \prod_{j=1}^{N_d} \frac{1}{\left(1 - \frac{|\xi_j|^2}{\delta_0^2 k^2}\right)^2}.$$

A computation shows that

$$(6.6) \Delta \log \psi_k \le C \cdot k^{-2} \psi_k.$$

Consider the function $(\underline{z},\underline{\xi}) \mapsto \frac{f_k(\underline{z},\xi)}{\psi_k(\underline{z},\underline{\xi})}$. Its maximum cannot be achieved at a boundary point of the domain, since ψ_k goes to infinity as (\underline{z},ξ) goes to the boundary. So at the maximum point (\underline{z}_0,ξ_0) , we have

$$\Delta \log f_k/\psi_k \leq 0.$$

This inequality, combined with (6.5) and (6.6), gives

$$f_k(\underline{z}_0,\underline{\xi}_0) \le C \cdot k^{-2} \psi_k(\underline{z}_0,\underline{\xi}_0).$$

Since the previous inequality is verified at the maximum point of the quotient, the same is true at an arbitrary point, thus, in particular, at the origin:

$$f_k(\underline{0}) \le C \cdot k^{-2}$$
.

The proof of Theorem 6.2 is now completed.

For every $1 \leq p \leq \dim(X)$, Eisenmann introduced in [12] p-dimensional pseudo-metrics \mathbf{e}_X^p which are generalizations of the Kobayashi pseudo-metric (see also [6, §1 and 3] for definitions and basic properties of such objects). A variety is called infinitesimally p-measure hyperbolic if the p-dimensional Eisenmann pseudo-metrics \mathbf{e}_X^p is positive definite on every fiber of $\wedge^p T_X$ (in the non-compact case one requires \mathbf{e}_X^p to further satisfy a locally uniform lower bound in terms of any smooth metric). The major difference between the case p=1 and p>1 is that the relevant geometric objects in the latter case are holomorphic maps $f: \mathbb{C} \times D(0,R)^{p-1} \to X$. Indeed the non-existence of maximal rank holomorphic maps $f: \mathbb{C}^p \to X$ does not imply the p-measure hyperbolicity, when p>1. Nevertheless the previous results, together with Theorem 1.4, may be seen as first steps towards the p-measure hyperbolicity of general projective hypersurfaces of high degree (and of their complements) and suggest the following problem, which generalizes Kobayashi's conjecture.

Problem 6.7. Let $X_d \subset \mathbb{P}^n$ be a general hypersurface of degree d.

- (i) If $d \ge 2n + 1 p$ then X_d is p-measure hyperbolic $(1 \le p \le n 1)$.
- (ii) If $d \ge 2n + 2 p$ then $\mathbb{P}^n \setminus X_d$ is p-measure hyperbolic $(1 \le p \le n)$.

7. The main application: holomorphic maps from \mathbb{C}^2 to general hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^4

In this section we investigate the case of holomorphic maps $f: \mathbb{C}^2 \to X$ where X is a hypersurface of \mathbb{P}^4 , using our construction of generalized Demailly-Semple jet bundles. This approach generalizes what was done in [26] for entire curves. As p=2, we will forget the index p in the rest of the section.

As explained above, the first step is to obtain global differential operators. The first remark here is that there are no global differential operators of order 1. Indeed, by theorem 5.1

$$H^0(X, E_{2,1,m}) = 0.$$

So we have to look for global differential operators of order 2. This approach will make use of explicit computations on the cohomology of jet bundles.

7.1. Cohomology of jet bundles. First, let us recall the cohomology on Grassmannian bundles. Let V be a vector bundle of rank r on X and $X_1 = G(p, V)$ the Grassmannian bundle. Then H^*X_1 is the algebra over H^*X generated by $a_1, ..., a_p, b_1, ..., b_{r-p}$ modulo the relations

$$\sum_{0 \le i \le k} a_i b_{k-i} = c_k(V),$$

for
$$k = 1, ..., r, a_i = c_i(S), b_j = c_j(Q)$$
 with S and Q defined by
$$(7.1) 0 \to S \to \pi^* V \to Q \to 0,$$

where $\pi: X_1 \to X$ is the natural projection and S the tautological bundle.

We make the computations in our situation where X is a hypersurface of \mathbb{P}^4 and $V_0 = T_X$, using the notations of section 2.2 where we have defined X_k , V_k and S_k .

On
$$X_1 = G(2, V_0)$$
, we have

$$(7.2) 0 \to S_1 \to \pi^* V_0 \to Q_1 \to 0,$$

with rank $S_1 = 2$, rank $V_0 = 3$, rank $Q_1 = 1$. The relations defining the cohomology are:

$$a_1 + b_1 = c_1,$$

 $a_2 + a_1b_1 = c_2,$
 $a_2b_1 = c_3,$

where a_i, b_i and c_i are the *i*-th Chern classes of S_1, Q_1 and V_0 , respectively. Eliminating the b_i 's we obtain the relation

$$a_1^3 - 2a_1^2c_1 + a_1c_1^2 + a_1c_2 - c_1c_2 + c_3 = 0.$$

On $X_2 = G(2, V_1)$, we have

$$(7.4) 0 \to S_2 \to \pi^* V_1 \to Q_2 \to 0,$$

with rank $S_2 = 2$, rank $V_1 = 4$, rank $Q_2 = 2$. The relations defining the cohomology are:

$$d_1 + e_1 = f_1,$$

$$d_2 + d_1e_1 + e_2 = f_2,$$

$$d_1e_2 + d_2e_1 = f_3,$$

$$d_2e_2 = f_4.$$

where d_i, e_i and f_i are the *i*-th Chern classes of S_2, Q_2 and V_1 respectively. Eliminating the e_i 's we obtain the relations

$$-d_1^{6} + 3 d_1^{5} f_1 - 3 d_1^{4} f_1^{2} - 2 d_1^{4} f_2 + 4 d_1^{3} f_2 f_1$$

$$+d_1^{3} f_1^{3} - f_3 d_1^{2} f_1 - f_2^{2} d_1^{2} + 4 d_1^{2} f_4 - 2 d_1^{2} f_1^{2} f_2 + f_3 d_1 f_1^{2}$$

$$-4 d_1 f_4 f_1 + f_2^{2} d_1 f_1 - f_3 f_2 f_1 + f_3^{2} + f_4 f_1^{2} = 0,$$
(7.5)

$$-d_1^5 - f_3 f_2 + 3 f_4 f_1 + f_3 f_1^2 - 2 d_2 f_3 - 2 d_2 f_1 f_2 - d_2 f_1^3$$

$$+5 f_1 d_2^2 + 4 d_1 f_4 + d_1 f_2^2 + f_3 f_1 d_1 - d_1 f_2 f_1^2 - 4 f_2 d_2 d_1 + 4 d_2 f_1^2 d_1$$

$$+f_3 d_1^2 - 2 d_1^2 f_2 f_1 + f_1^3 d_1^2 = 0.$$

Relations 7.3, 7.5 and 7.6 will be used in the next section.

Now, we compute the Chern classes of V_1 . From the exact sequences (2.2) and (2.3), we deduce

$$ch(V_1) = ch(S_1) + ch(\pi^*V_0 \otimes S_1^*) - ch(S_1 \otimes S_1^*).$$

We have

$$ch(S_1) = 2 + a_1 + 1/2 a_1^2 - a_2,$$

$$(7.8) ch(\pi^*V_0) = 3 + c_1 + \frac{1}{2}(c_1^2 - 2c_2) + \frac{1}{6}(c_1^3 - 3c_1c_2 + 3c_3).$$

The computation gives

$$ch(V_1) = 4 + 1/3 c_1^3 - 2 c_2 - c_1 a_1 + 1/2 c_1 a_1^2 - c_1 a_2 - 1/2 c_1^2 a_1 + 1/4 c_1^2 a_1^2 - 1/2 c_1^2 a_2 + c_2 a_1 - 1/2 c_2 a_1^2 + c_2 a_2 - 1/6 c_1^3 a_1 + 1/12 c_1^3 a_1^2 - 1/6 c_1^3 a_2 - 1/2 c_3 a_1 + 1/4 c_3 a_1^2 - 1/2 c_3 a_2 + a_1^2 a_2 + 2 c_1 + 1/2 c_1 c_2 a_1 - 1/4 c_1 c_2 a_1^2 - c_1 c_2 + c_1^2 + 1/2 c_1 c_2 a_2 - 1/4 a_1^4 - 2 a_1 + a_1^2 - a_2^2 + c_3.$$

Then we deduce

Proposition 7.1. Let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^4$ be a hypersurface, $V_0 = T_X$, V_1 , S_1 defined as in section 2.2, c_i the Chern classes of X and a_i the Chern classes of S_1 . Then

$$c_{1}(V_{1}) = 2 c_{1} - 2 a_{1},$$

$$c_{2}(V_{1}) = c_{1}^{2} - 3 c_{1} a_{1} + a_{1}^{2} + 2 c_{2},$$

$$c_{3}(V_{1}) = -c_{1}^{2} a_{1} + c_{1} a_{1}^{2} + 2/3 a_{1}^{3} + 2 c_{1} c_{2} - 2 c_{2} a_{1} - 2 c_{1} a_{2} + 2 c_{3},$$

$$c_{4}(V_{1}) = -c_{3} a_{1} - 6 a_{1}^{2} a_{2} + c_{2} a_{1}^{2} - c_{1}^{2} a_{2} - 6 c_{2} a_{2} + 4 c_{1} c_{3} + 1/3 c_{1} a_{1}^{3} + 1/2 c_{1}^{4} - 2 c_{1}^{2} c_{2} + 2 c_{2}^{2} + 6 a_{2}^{2} + 2/3 a_{1}^{4} - c_{1} c_{2} a_{1} + 4 a_{1} c_{1} a_{2}.$$

7.2. Existence of global 2-jet differentials. We follow the strategy described in [10] to prove the existence of non zero global section of $E_{2,2,m}$. The main point here is that we want to find non trivial differential equations i.e. sections non identically zero on the effective locus. We prove the following.

Theorem 7.2. Let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^4$ be an hypersurface of degree $d \geq 19$ and A an ample line bundle. Then there exists non-zero global sections in

$$H^0(Z_2, \mathscr{O}_{Z_2}(m) \otimes \pi_{2,0}^* A^{-1}) \subset H^0(X, E_{2,2,m} \otimes A^{-1}) \neq 0,$$

for m large enough. Therefore, by Corollary 3.4, any maximal rank holomorphic map $f: \mathbb{C}^2 \to X$ satisfies the corresponding algebraic differential equation.

Let $F_2 = \mathscr{O}_{X_2^2}(5,1) \otimes \pi_{0,2}^* \mathscr{O}_X(24)$ and $G_2 = \pi_{2,0}^* \mathscr{O}_X(24)$. Recall from Corollary 4.5 that $L_2 = F_2 \otimes G_2^{-1}$ is a difference of two nef line bundles. To prove the above theorem it is enough to prove the following.

Proposition 7.3. Under the hypotheses of Theorem 7.2, the line bundle $L_2|_{Z_2}$ is big.

Let $u_i = c_1(\mathcal{O}_{X_i}(1))$. We will need the following.

Lemma 7.4. $Z_2 \subset X_2$ is a divisor whose class in $Pic(X_2)$ is given by

$$Z_2 = u_2 + u_1 - \pi_{2,0}^* K_X.$$

Proof of Lemma 7.4. Recall from relation 2.4 that the effective locus Z_2 is the locus where the pairing

$$\bigwedge^2 V_2 \otimes \pi^* d(V_1^{\perp}) \to \mathscr{O}_{X_2}$$

is zero, where $\pi = \pi_{2,1}^*$. Equivalently, it is the locus of zeros of the map

$$\pi^*d(V_1^{\perp}) \to {\stackrel{2}{\wedge}} S_2.$$

Since V_1^{\perp} is the kernel of $T_{X_1}^* \to V_1^*$, it is of rank 1. Locally, it is generated by a 1-form ω . As an \mathscr{O}_{X_1} -module $d(V_1^{\perp})$ is generated by $d\omega$ and the forms $df \wedge \omega$. Consider $L = d(V_1^{\perp})/(T_{X_1}^* \wedge V_1^{\perp})$. Then we see that Z_2 is the locus where the pairing

$${}^{2} \wedge V_{2} \otimes \pi^{*}L \to \mathscr{O}_{X_{2}}$$

is zero. Indeed, take $v_1, v_2 \in V_2$ then

$$<\pi^*(df \wedge \omega), v_1 \wedge v_2> = < df \wedge \omega, \pi_*(v_1 \wedge v_2)> = 0,$$

since $\pi_* v_i \in V_1$ and therefore $\omega(\pi_* v_i) = 0$.

Remark that L is a locally free module of rank 1, locally generated by $d\omega$, and in $Pic(X_1)$, $L = V_1^{\perp}$. Indeed, V_1^{\perp} is given by the transition functions g_{ij} such that $\omega_i = g_{ij}\omega_j$ where ω_i defines locally V_1^{\perp} on U_i . Now, the transition functions of L are given by $\overline{d\omega_i} = \overline{g_{ij}d\omega_j + dg_{ij} \wedge \omega} = g_{ij}\overline{d\omega_j}$ in $d(V_1^{\perp})/(T_{X_1}^* \wedge V_1^{\perp})$.

Now, we can characterize Z_2 as the zero locus of the map between line bundles

$$\pi^*L \to \overset{2}{\wedge} S_2^* = \mathscr{O}_{X_2}(1).$$

So, Z_2 is a divisor such that in $Pic(X_2)$, $Z_2 = u_2 - \pi^*(V_1^{\perp})$. From the exact sequence

$$0 \to V_1^{\perp} \to T_{X_1}^* \to V_1^* \to 0,$$

we have $c_1(V_1^{\perp}) = c_1(T_{X_1}^*) - c_1(V_1^*) = c_1(V_1) - c_1 - c_1(T_{X_1/X})$. Therefore from the exact sequence

$$0 \to T_{X_1/X} \to V_1 \to S_1 \to 0,$$

we deduce that $c_1(V_1^{\perp}) = c_1(S_1) - c_1 = -u_1 - c_1$. Finally we find

$$Z_2 = u_2 + u_1 + c_1.$$

Now, we can prove Proposition 7.3.

Proof of Proposition 7.3. Let $L = F \otimes G^{-1}$ be the difference of two nef line bundles and A any line bundle over a compact manifold of dimension n. From algebraic holomorphic Morse inequalities [28], for m large enough, the line bundle $L^{\otimes m} \otimes A$ has a non-zero global section as soon as $F^n - nF^{n-1}.G > 0$. Here we compute the quantity

$$F_2^8 \cdot Z - 8F_2^7 \cdot G_2 \cdot Z = (u_1 + 5u_2 + 24h)^8 \cdot (u_2 + u_1 + c_1) - 8(u_1 + 5u_2 + 24h)^7 \cdot 24h \cdot (u_2 + u_1 + c_1),$$

where h is the class of a hyperplane section of $X \subset \mathbb{P}^4$. We apply the relations (7.3), (7.5), (7.6) and Proposition 7.1 to express this quantity in terms of Chern classes of X (the computation is made using Maple) and we get

$$F_2^8.Z - 8F_2^7.G_2.Z = 112896000 h^2c_1 + 280000 c_1c_2 - 70000 c_3 - 449003520 h^3 - 1050000 c_1^3.$$

Since we have

$$c_1 = -h(d-5), c_2 = h^2(d^2 - 5d + 10), c_3 = -h^3(d^3 - 5d^2 + 10d - 10), h^3 = d$$

(see e.g. [10, Proposition 2]) we finally get

$$F_2^8 \cdot Z - 8F_2^7 \cdot G_2 \cdot Z = -43246000 d^2 - 2473520 d + 840000 d^4 - 13300000 d^3$$

which turns out to be positive for $d \ge 19$.

7.3. Vector fields on jets spaces. In this section, we generalize to our situation the approach of [25] and [26] which represent effective versions of Siu's original ideas [29] (see also [22] for recent generalizations). Consider $\mathscr{X} \subset \mathbb{P}^4 \times \mathbb{P}^{N_d}$ the universal hypersurface given by the equation

$$\sum_{|\alpha|=d} a_{\alpha} Z^{\alpha} = 0, \text{ where } [a] \in \mathbb{P}^{N_d} \text{ and } [Z] \in \mathbb{P}^4.$$

We use the notations: for $\alpha=(\alpha_0,...,\alpha_4)\in\mathbb{N}^5$, $|\alpha|=\sum_i\alpha_i$ and if $Z=(Z_0,Z_1,...,Z_4)$ are homogeneous coordinates on \mathbb{P}^4 , then $Z^\alpha=\prod Z_j^{\alpha_j}$. The variety $\mathscr X$ is a smooth hypersurface of degree (d,1) in $\mathbb{P}^4\times\mathbb{P}^{N_d}$. Here, we denote by $J_2(\mathscr X):=J_2(\mathbb{C}^2,\mathscr X)$ the manifold of the 2-jets from \mathbb{C}^2 to $\mathscr X$, and $J_2^v(\mathscr X)$ the submanifold of $J_2(\mathscr X)$ consisting of 2-jets in $\mathscr X$ tangent to the fibers of the projection $\pi:\mathscr X\to\mathbb{P}^{N_d}$.

Let us consider the open subset $\Omega_0 := (Z_0 \neq 0) \times (a_{0d000} \neq 0) \subset \mathbb{P}^4 \times \mathbb{P}^{N_d}$. We assume that global coordinates are given on \mathbb{C}^4 and \mathbb{C}^{N_d} . The equation of \mathscr{X} becomes

$$\mathscr{X}_0 := (z_1^d + \sum_{|\alpha| < d, \ \alpha_1 < d} a_{\alpha} z^{\alpha} = 0).$$

Then the equations of $J_2^v(\mathscr{X}_0)$ in $\mathbb{C}^4 \times \mathbb{C}^{N_d} \times \mathbb{C}^{4 \times 2} \times \mathbb{C}^{4 \times 3}$ with the coordinates $(z_i, a_\alpha, \xi_j^{(i)}, \xi_j^{(i,l)})$ $(1 \le i \le k \le 2)$ are given by:

(7.9)
$$\sum_{|\alpha| \le d, \ a_{d000} = 1} a_{\alpha} z^{\alpha} = 0,$$

(7.10)
$$\sum_{j=1}^{4} \sum_{|\alpha| \le d, \ a, a_{\alpha \alpha \alpha} = 1} a_{\alpha} \frac{\partial z^{\alpha}}{\partial z_{j}} \xi_{j}^{(i)} = 0,$$

 $1 \le i \le 2$,

(7.11)
$$\sum_{j=1}^{4} \sum_{|\alpha| < d, \ a_{d000} = 1} a_{\alpha} \frac{\partial z^{\alpha}}{\partial z_{j}} \xi_{j}^{(i,l)} + \sum_{j,k=1}^{4} \sum_{|\alpha| < d, \ a_{d000} = 1} a_{\alpha} \frac{\partial^{2} z^{\alpha}}{\partial z_{j} \partial z_{k}} \xi_{j}^{(i)} \xi_{k}^{(l)} = 0,$$

 $1 \le i \le l \le 2$.

Consider now a vector field

$$V = \sum_{|\alpha| \le d, \ \alpha_1 < d} v_{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha}} + \sum_{j} v_{j} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_{j}} + \sum_{j,k} w_{j}^{(k)} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{j}^{(k)}} + \sum_{i,j,k} w_{j}^{(i,k)} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{j}^{(i,k)}},$$

on the vector space $\mathbb{C}^4 \times \mathbb{C}^{N_d} \times \mathbb{C}^{4 \times 2} \times \mathbb{C}^{4 \times 3}$.

The conditions to be satisfied by V to be tangent to $J_2^v(\mathscr{X}_0)$ are

$$\sum_{|\alpha| \leq d, \ \alpha_1 < d} v_{\alpha} z^{\alpha} + \sum_{j=1}^4 \sum_{|\alpha| \leq d, \ a_{d000} = 1} a_{\alpha} \frac{\partial z^{\alpha}}{\partial z_j} v_j = 0,$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^4 \sum_{|\alpha| \leq d, \ \alpha_1 < d} v_{\alpha} \frac{\partial z^{\alpha}}{\partial z_j} \xi_j^{(i)} + \sum_{j,k=1}^4 \sum_{|\alpha| \leq d, \ a_{d000} = 1} a_{\alpha} \frac{\partial^2 z^{\alpha}}{\partial z_j \partial z_k} v_j \xi_k^{(i)} + \sum_{j=1}^4 \sum_{|\alpha| \leq d, \ a_{d000} = 1} a_{\alpha} \frac{\partial z^{\alpha}}{\partial z_j} w_j^{(i)} = 0,$$

$$1 \leq i \leq 2, \text{ and}$$

$$\sum_{|\alpha| \leq d, \ \alpha_1 < d} (\sum_{j=1}^4 \frac{\partial z^{\alpha}}{\partial z_j} \xi_j^{(i,l)} + \sum_{j,k=1}^4 \frac{\partial^2 z^{\alpha}}{\partial z_j \partial z_k} \xi_j^{(i)} \xi_k^{(l)}) v_{\alpha}$$

$$+ \sum_{j=1}^4 \sum_{|\alpha| \leq d, \ a_{d000} = 1} a_{\alpha} (\sum_{k=1}^4 \frac{\partial^2 z^{\alpha}}{\partial z_j \partial z_k} \xi_k^{(i,l)} + \sum_{k,m=1}^4 \frac{\partial^3 z^{\alpha}}{\partial z_j \partial z_k \partial z_l} \xi_k^{(i)} \xi_m^{(l)}) v_j$$

$$+ \sum_{|\alpha| \leq d, \ a_{d000} = 1} (\sum_{j,k=1}^4 a_{\alpha} \frac{\partial^2 z^{\alpha}}{\partial z_j \partial z_k} (w_j^{(i)} \xi_k^{(l)} + w_k^{(i)} \xi_j^{(l)}) + \sum_{j=1}^4 a_{\alpha} \frac{\partial z^{\alpha}}{\partial z_j} w_j^{(i,l)}) = 0,$$

 $1 \le i \le l \le 2$.

We obtain exactly the same type of equations as in [25]. Therefore using the computations of [25], we obtain meromorphic vector fields on $T_{J_2^{\nu}(\mathscr{X})}$. We recall the main facts for the convenience of the reader and refer to the above mentioned article for the details.

The first package of vector fields tangent to $J_2^v(\mathscr{X})$ is the following.

For $\alpha_1 \geq 3$:

$$V_{\alpha}^{300} := \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha}} - 3z_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha - \delta_1}} + 3z_1^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha - 2\delta_1}} - z_1^3 \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha - 3\delta_1}}.$$

For $\alpha_1 \geq 2, \alpha_2 \geq 1$:

$$V_{\alpha}^{210} : = \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha}} - 2z_{1} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha - \delta_{1}}} - z_{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha - \delta_{2}}} +$$

$$+ z_{1}^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha - 2\delta_{1}}} + 2z_{1} z_{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha - \delta_{1} - \delta_{2}}} - z_{1}^{2} z_{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha - 2\delta_{1} - \delta_{2}}}.$$

For $\alpha_1 \geq 1, \alpha_2 \geq 1, \alpha_3 \geq 1$:

$$\begin{split} V_{\alpha}^{111} & : & = \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha}} - z_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha - \delta_1}} - z_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha - \delta_2}} - z_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha - \delta_3}} \\ & + z_1 z_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha - \delta_1 - \delta_2}} + z_1 z_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha - \delta_1 - \delta_3}} \\ & + z_2 z_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha - \delta_2 - \delta_3}} - z_1 z_2 z_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha - \delta_1 - \delta_2 - \delta_3}}. \end{split}$$

We obtain similar vector fields by permuting the z_i and changing α as indicated by the permutation. The order of the pole is equal to 3.

Another family is obtained in the following way. Consider a 4×4 -matrix $A = (A_j^k) \in M_4(\mathbb{C})$ and let $\widetilde{V} := \sum_j w_j^{(k)} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_j^{(k)}} + \sum_j w_j^{(i,k)} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_j^{(i,k)}}$, where $w^{(k)} := A\xi^{(k)}$ and $w^{(i,k)} := A\xi^{(i,k)}$.

Lemma 7.5 (lemma 1.1 of [25]). There exist polynomials $v_{\alpha}(z, a) := \sum_{|\beta| \leq 3} v_{\beta}^{\alpha}(a) z^{\beta}$ where each coefficient v_{β}^{α} has degree at most 1 in the variables (a_{γ}) such that

$$V := \sum_{\alpha} v_{\alpha}(z, a) \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha}} + \widetilde{V}$$

is tangent to $J_2^v(\mathscr{X}_0)$ at each point.

We define the affine algebraic set

$$\Sigma_0 := \bigcap_{1 \le i, k \le 2} \Sigma_{i,k} \subset J_2^v(\mathscr{X}),$$

where

$$\Sigma_{i,k} := \{(z, a, \xi^{(i)}, \xi^{(i,k)}) \in J_2^v(\mathscr{X}) / \xi^{(i)} \land \xi^{(i,k)} = 0\}, 1 \le i, k \le 2.$$

We remark that we have

Lemma 7.6. If the lifting of the map of maximal rank $f: \mathbb{C}^2 \to X_a \subset \mathcal{X}$ lies inside Σ_0 , then the image of f is contained in a proper suvariety of X_a .

Proof. By hypothesis f verifies the equations

(7.12)
$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial t_i} \wedge \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial t_i \partial t_k} = 0,$$

 $1 \le i, k \le 2$. Since f is of maximal rank, this implies that $\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial t_1 \partial t_2} = 0$ and $f = g(t_1) + h(t_2)$. From (7.12) we get

$$\frac{\partial g}{\partial t_1} \wedge \frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial t_1^2} = 0,$$
$$\frac{\partial h}{\partial t_2} \wedge \frac{\partial^2 h}{\partial t_2^2} = 0.$$

This provides the algebraic degeneracy of f.

Now, we have the following.

Proposition 7.7. The vector bundle $T_{J_2^v(\mathscr{X})} \otimes \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^4}(7) \otimes \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^N_d}(q)$ is generated by its global sections on $J_2^v(\mathscr{X}) \setminus \Sigma$, where Σ is the closure of Σ_0 and q a sufficiently large integer.

Proof. From the previous lemmas, we are reduced to consider vector fields of the form $V = \sum_{|\alpha| \leq 2} v_{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial a_{\alpha}}$. The conditions for V to be tangent to $J_2^v(\mathscr{X}_0)$ are

$$\sum_{|\alpha| \le 2} v_{\alpha} z^{\alpha} = 0,$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{4} \sum_{|\alpha| \le d} v_{\alpha} \frac{\partial z^{\alpha}}{\partial z_{j}} \xi_{j}^{(i)} = 0,$$

and

$$\sum_{|\alpha| \le 2} (\sum_{j=1}^4 \frac{\partial z^\alpha}{\partial z_j} \xi_j^{(i,l)} + \sum_{j,k=1}^4 \frac{\partial^2 z^\alpha}{\partial z_j \partial z_k} \xi_j^{(i)} \xi_k^{(l)}) v_\alpha = 0.$$

We are interested in the global generation outside Σ so we can assume that for some $1 \leq i, l \leq 2$, we have $W_{12} := \xi_1^{(i)} \xi_2^{(i,l)} - \xi_1^{(i,l)} \xi_2^{(i)} \neq 0$. Then we can solve the previous system with v_{000}, v_{100} and v_{010} as unknowns. By the Cramer rule, each of the previous quantity is a linear combination of the v_{α} , $|\alpha| \leq 2$, $\alpha \neq (000), (100), (010)$ with coefficients rational functions in $z, \xi^{(i)}, \xi^{(i,l)}$. The denominator is W_{12} and the numerator is a polynomial whose monomials have either degree at most 2 in z and at most one in $\xi^{(i)}$ and $\xi^{(i,l)}$, or degree 1 in z and three in $\xi^{(i)}$ variables. Thus we get order 7 for the above vector field.

7.4. **Proof of Theorem 1.4.** First we need a lemma which is a slight modification of Theorem 7.2.

Lemma 7.8. Let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^4$ be an hypersurface of degree $d \geq 6$. Then there exists non-zero global sections in

$$H^0(Z_2, \mathscr{O}_{Z_2}(6m) \otimes \pi_{2,0}^* K_X^{-\delta m}) \subset H^0(X, E_{2,2,6m} \otimes K_X^{-\delta m}),$$

for m large enough if

$$\alpha(d, \delta) = -742000 d^4 \delta - 36400 d\delta + 1862000 d^3 \delta - 43246000 d^2 - 13300000 d^3 + 840000 d^4 + 9247280 d^2 \delta - 2473520 d > 0.$$

Proof. We apply algebraic holomorphic Morse inequalities with $F_2 = \mathscr{O}_{X_2^2}(5,1) \otimes \pi_{0,2}^* \mathscr{O}_X(24)$, $G_2 = \pi_{2,0}^* (\mathscr{O}_X(24) + K_X^{\delta})$ and $L_2 = F_2 \otimes G_2^{-1}$ on the effective locus Z_2 . To finish the proof, we compute everything as in Proposition 7.3 and use the injection (4.1).

Now, we can finish the proof of Theorem 1.4.

Proof of Theorem 1.4. Let us consider a maximal rank holomorphic map $f: \mathbb{C}^2 \to X$ in a very generic hypersurface of \mathbb{P}^4 of degree $d \geq 93$.

We have a section

$$P \in H^0(Z_2, \mathscr{O}_{Z_2}(6m) \otimes \pi_2^* K_X^{-\delta m}) \subset H^0(X, E_{2,2,6m} \otimes K_X^{-\delta m}),$$

with zero set Y and vanishing order $\delta m(d-5)$. Consider the family

$$\mathscr{X} \subset \mathbb{P}^4 \times \mathbb{P}^{N_d}$$

of hypersurfaces of degree d in \mathbb{P}^4 . We denote by X_a the fiber of \mathscr{X} over the parameter $a \in \mathbb{P}^{N_d}$. General semicontinuity arguments concerning the cohomology groups show the existence of a Zariski open set $U_d \subset \mathbb{P}^{N_d}$ such that for any $a \in U_d$, there exists a divisor

$$Y_a = (P_a = 0) \subset (Z_a)_2$$

where (Z_a) is the effective locus inside $(X_a)_2^2$ and $(P_a)_{a\in U_d}$ is a family of sections

$$P_a \in H^0((Z_a)_2, \mathcal{O}_{(Z_a)_2}(6m) \otimes \pi_2^* K_{(X_a)}^{-\delta m}),$$

varying holomorphically over U_d . We consider P as a holomorphic function on $J_2(X_a)$. The vanishing order of this function as a function of $\xi^{(i)}, \xi^{(i,l)}$ $(1 \leq i, l \leq 2)$ is no more than 12m at a generic point of \mathscr{X}_a . We have $\operatorname{Im}(f_{[2]}) \subset Z_a$. If $\operatorname{Im}(f_{[2]})$ lies in Σ , f is algebraically degenerated as we saw in Lemma 7.6. So, we can suppose it is not the case.

If we take a vector field v given by Proposition 7.7, we can differentiate P. We see that vP corresponds to an invariant differential operator and its restriction to $(P_a = 0)$ can be seen as a section of the bundle

$$\mathscr{O}_{(Z_a)_2}(6m)\otimes\mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^4}(7-\delta m(d-5))_{|Y_a}.$$

If $\text{Im}(f_{[2]})$ does not lie in the singular locus of $(P_a = 0)$, we invoke Proposition 7.7 which gives the global generation of

$$T_{J_2^v(\mathscr{X})} \otimes \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^4}(7) \otimes \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{N_d}}(q)$$

on $J_2^v(\mathscr{X})\backslash \Sigma$, to obtain a vector field v such that vP is non zero at some point of $\mathrm{Im}(f_{[2]})$. If

$$7 - \delta m(d - 5) < 0,$$

we obtain a contradiction from Theorem 3.3 because vP should be zero at this point.

If $\operatorname{Im}(f_{[2]})$ lies in the singular locus of $(P_a=0)$, we have to differentiate more, but not more than 12m. We can find global meromorphic vector fields $v_1,...,v_q$ $(q\leq 12m)$ and differentiate P with respect to these vector fields such that $v_1...v_qP$ is not zero at some point of $\operatorname{Im}(f_{[2]})$. Assume that the vanishing order of P is larger than the sum of the pole order of the v_i in the fiber direction of $\pi:\mathscr{X}\to\mathbb{P}^{N_d}$. Then as before the restriction of $v_1...v_qP$ can be seen as

the restriction of a global section of $\mathscr{O}_{(\mathscr{Z}_a)_2}(6m)$ which vanishes on the pull-back of an ample divisor. Therefore the lifting $f_{[2]}$ should be in its zero set. Thus $f_{[2]}$ should be in the zero section of $J_2(\mathscr{X}_a)$ over a generic point of \mathscr{X}_a .

To obtain the algebraic degeneracy of f, we just have to see when the vanishing order of P is larger than the sum of the pole order of the v_i . This will be verified if

$$7 \times 12m - \delta m(d-5) < 0,$$

i.e.

$$\delta(d-5) > 84.$$

So we want $\delta > \frac{84}{(d-5)}$ and $\alpha(d,\delta) > 0$. This is the case for $d \geq 93$.

To finish the proof we remark now that the Zariski closure of f is a surface S which cannot be of general type by a classical result [19] of Kobayashi and Ochiai. But by a result of Ein [11] (later sharpened in [30], [23], and [5]) all subvarieties of a very general hypersurface of degree $\geq 2n$ in \mathbb{P}^n are of general type, for all $n \geq 3$. So we obtain a contradiction and there is no maximal rank map $f: \mathbb{C}^2 \to X$ in a very generic hypersurface of \mathbb{P}^4 of degree $d \geq 93$. \square

References

- [1] E. Arrondo, I. Sols, R. Speiser, Global moduli for contacts, Arkiv for Mathematik, 35 (1997), 1-57.
- [2] R. Brody, Compact manifolds in hyperbolicity, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 235 (1978), 213–219.
- [3] P. Brückmann, H.-G. Rackwitz, *T-Symmetrical tensor forms on complete intersections*, Math. Ann. **288** (1990), no. 4, 627-635.
- [4] R. L. Bryant, S.S. Chern, R. B. Gardner, H.L. Goldschmidt, P.A. Griffiths, Exterior differential Systems, MSRI Publ. 18, New York, Berlin, Heidelberg, London, Paris, Tokyo, Hong Kong, Barcelona (1991).
- [5] H. Clemens, Z. Ran, Twisted genus bounds for subvarieties of generic hypersurfaces, Amer. J. Math. 126 (2004), no. 1, 89–120.
- [6] J.-P. Demailly, Algebraic criteria for Kobayashi hyperbolic projective varieties and jet differentials, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., vol.62, Amer. Math.Soc., Providence, RI, 1997, 285–360.
- [7] J.-P. Demailly, Multiplier Ideal Sheaves and Analytic Methods in Algebraic Geometry, School on vanishing theorems and effective results in algebraic geometry (Trieste 2000), 1-148, ICTP Lect. Notes, 5, Abdus Salam Int. Cent. Theoret. Phys., Trieste, 2001.
- [8] J.-P. Demailly, J. El Goul, Hyperbolicity of generic surfaces of high degree in projective 3-space, Amer. J. Math. 122 (2000), 515–546.
- [9] O. Debarre, G. Pacienza, M. Păun, Non-deformability of entire curves in projective hypersurfaces of high degree, Ann. Inst. Fourier **56** (2006), no. 1, 247–253.
- [10] S. Diverio, Differential equations on complex projective hypersurfaces of low dimension, Compos. Math. 144 (2008), no. 4, 920–932.
- [11] L. Ein, Subvarieties of generic complete intersections, Invent. Math. 94, (1988) 163–169.
- [12] D. A. Eisenman, Intrinsic measures on complex manifolds and holomorphic mappings, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1970.
- [13] W. Fulton, J. Harris Representation theory, Graduate Texts in Math. 129 Springer Verlag, New York, 1991
- [14] H. Hironaka, Resolution of singularities of an algebraic variety over a field of characteristic zero, Ann. of Math. 79, (1964) 109-326.

- [15] P.-C. Hu, Ch.-Ch. Yang, Jet bundles and its applications in value distribution of holomorphic mappings. Value distribution theory and related topics, 281–319, Adv. Complex Anal. Appl., 3, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Boston, MA, 2004.
- [16] S. Iitaka, Algebraic geometry, Graduate Texts in Math. 76, Springer Verlag, New York, 1982.
- [17] S. Kobayashi, Hyperbolic manifolds and holomorphic mappings, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1970.
- [18] S. Kobayashi, Hyperbolic complex spaces, Springer, 1998.
- [19] S. Kobayashi, T. Ochiai, Meromorphic mappings into compact complex spaces of general type, Inv. Math., 31 (1975), 7-16.
- [20] D. Laksov, R. Speiser, Local and global structure of effective and cuspidal loci on Grassmannians, Comm. Alg. 31 no. 8 (2003), 3993–4006.
- [21] M. McQuillan, Holomorphic curves on hyperplane sections of 3-folds, Geom. Funct. Anal. 9 (1999), 370–392.
- [22] J. Merker, Low pole order frames on vertical jets of the universal hypersurface, preprint arXiv:0805.3987 (2008), to appear in Ann. Inst. Fourier.
- [23] G. Pacienza, Subvarieties of general type on a general projective hypersurface, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **356** (2004), no. 7, 2649–2661.
- [24] G. Pacienza, E. Rousseau, On the logarithmic Kobayashi conjecture, J. Reine Angew. Math. 611 (2007), 221–235.
- [25] M. Păun, Vector fields on the total space of hypersurfaces in the projective space and hyperbolicity, Math. Ann. 340 (2008), no. 4, 875–892.
- [26] E. Rousseau, Weak analytic hyperbolicity of generic hypersurfaces of high degree in ℙ⁴, Annales Fac. Sci. Toulouse, **16** no.2 (2007), 369–383.
- [27] E. Rousseau, Weak analytic hyperbolicity of complements of generic surfaces of high degree in projective 3-space, Osaka J.Math. 44, (2007) 955–971.
- [28] S. Trapani, Numerical criteria for the positivity of the difference of ample divisors, Math. Z. 219 (1995), no.3, 387–401.
- [29] Y.-T. Siu, *Hyperbolicity in complex geometry*, The legacy of Niels Henrik Abel, Springer, Berlin, 2004, 543–566.
- [30] C. Voisin, On a conjecture of Clemens on rational curves on hypersurfaces, J. Diff. Geom. 44 (1996), no. 1, 200–213.
- [31] C. Voisin, A correction: "On a conjecture of Clemens on rational curves on hypersurfaces", J. Diff. Geom. 49 (1998), no. 3, 601–611.
- [32] P.-M. Wong, Holomorphic mappings into abelian varieties, Amer. J. Math. 102 (1980), no. 3, 493–502.

pacienza@math.u-strasbg.fr and rousseau@math.u-strasbg.fr

Institut de Recherche Mathématique Avancée

Université L. Pasteur et CNRS

7, rue René Descartes, 67084 Strasbourg Cédex - FRANCE